

Canterbury Research and Theses Environment

Canterbury Christ Church University's repository of research outputs

http://create.canterbury.ac.uk

Copyright © and Moral Rights for this thesis are retained by the author and/or other copyright owners. A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge. This thesis cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the copyright holder/s. The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holders.

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given e.g. Atofanei, C. (2017) Venoms as potential new therapies targeting the epidermal growth factor receptor family. M.Sc. thesis, Canterbury Christ Church University.

Contact: create.library@canterbury.ac.uk



Venoms as Potential New Therapies Targeting

the Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Family

Cristina Mihaela Atofanei

Canterbury Christ Church University

Thesis submitted

for the Degree of MSc by Research

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vi
THE PAST, PRESENT AND FUTURE OF BREAST CANCER: VENOMS AS POT	ENTIAL NEW
1.1 Introduction	1
1.2 Molecular mechanisms and breast cancer phenotypes	2
1.3 The Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor family	4
1.4 Current therapies	11
1.5 Targeted therapies	13
1.5 AURORA: the international initiative for the investigation of metastatic brea	st cancer 19
1.6 Alternative molecular biology niches	20
1.7 Venom components as potential EGFR targets	21
1.8 Conclusions and perspectives	24
1.9 References	26
INVESTIGATING THE EFFECTS OF VENOMS ON THE EPIDERMAL GROW RECEPTOR AND RECEPTOR TYROSINE KINASES AS A POTENTIAL BREAST CANO	/TH FACTOR CER THERAPY
2.1 Background	41
2.2 Venom-based drugs and peptides	43
2.3 Rationale for use off the venoms in this study	44
2.4 Methods	45
2.4.1 A gen., H swa and N Naja venom extraction	46
2.4.2 Mammalian cell culture	

2.4	. 4.3 Bradford assay
2.4	.4.4 Venom treatment and sample preparation 47
2.4	4.5 Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis
2.4	4.6 Immunoblotting 50
2.4	4.7 Kinome analysis - Phospho-array human receptor tyrosine kinases kit 52
2.4	4.8 Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Family phosphorylation profile 53
2.4	.4.9 Venom fractionation 54
2.4	. 4.10 Freeze drying venom
2.4	.4.11 ImageLab analysis
2.5 Results	s55
2. Western blo	.5.1 Evaluation of optimal venom dose to use in Human Phospho-array experiment using otting 55
2.: 58	.5.2 Human Phospho-array analysis to determine venom effect on 49 receptor kinases 8
2.	.5.3 Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Family profile62
2.	5.4 Analysis of changes in expression of EGFR family members shown from human
proteome p	orofiler immunoblot64
2.	.5.5 Venom Fractionation of A gen65
2.:	5.6 Evaluation of optimal time for venom incubation66
2.6 Discuss	sion68
2.7 Refere	nces74
2.8 Append	dix

Abstract

The discovery and development of new breast cancer treatments is vital as current therapies, both targeted and non-targeted have been shown to have toxic side effects and cancers have become resistant to the treatment. The pursuit of new appropriate therapies can be directed towards naturally occurring proteins or peptides found present in nature such as venomous secretions. Understanding where and how breast cancer management started and where it currently stands is key in avoiding failure and covering as many avenues as possible. Although there are a variety of treatment strategies available, breast cancer management is still limited in terms of survival and prognosis. Understanding what those limits are and how they affect treatment response is relevant for future clinical trials. The present review focused on targeted and non-targeted therapies, molecular cancer subtypes and available alternatives for drug development in breast cancer. Among notable alternatives for drug development, venoms are now being utilised in drug discovery research due to their rich variety of small peptides, organic and inorganic compounds. With an estimated 12 million peptides awaiting identification and characterisation, venoms are a collection of diverse and attractive drug development platforms. Currently there have been a number of preliminary studies undertaken using venom and cultured human cancer cells, but more research is needed, not only to inform on the effects, but the need for more research is as relevant as ever, in order to identify as many venom compounds as possible. This paper will report a number of these studies.

Introduction

With a list of six FDA approved drugs, venom-based drug discovery is a relevant field of research for future anti-cancer therapies. Studying and identifying toxins, peptides and other compounds from venomous animals will improve our knowledge of the potential of these naturally occurring peptides against human cancer cells.

Methods

The following work investigates the effects of three types of venom *Acanthoscurria geniculata* (*A. gen*), *Heterometrus swammerdami* (*H. swa*) and *Naja Naja* (*N Naja*) on the human breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-468 using SDS-PAGE and analysing protein expression – Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor. This investigation will also report the results of using *A gen.* venom fractions on MDA-MB-468, which overexpresses EGFR, the first member of the Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor family of tyrosine kinases using HPLC, SDS-PAGE and Western Blot methods. Using the venom from the above species on human phospho-array blots, the effects the types of venom have on phosphorylation levels on a range of clinically important cell surface receptors was revealed.

Results

It was found that crude venom (*A gen., H swa* and *N Naja*) as well as venom fractions (*A gen.*) affected receptor phosphorylation in a time and concentration dependent manner, however more experimental research is required to understand the optimal conditions for the experiments to be carried out appropriately i.e. venom time incubation, antibody treatment.

Acknowledgements

The study was funded by Kent Cancer Trust and Venomtech Ltd.

The lead author would like to give special thanks to both of these institutions and to

Canterbury Christ Church University for their continual support and assistance.

Funding

This work was supported by Canterbury Christ Church University and Kent Cancer Trust

as part of an MSc by research for Cristina Mihaela Atofanei.

The past, present and future of breast cancer: Venoms as potential new therapies targeting the epidermal growth factor receptor family

1.1 Introduction

Cancer is one of the leading causes of death and disability worldwide (Ferlay *et al*, 2014). In 2015 it accounted for 8.8 million deaths worldwide with breast cancer being accountable for 571,000 deaths at this time (World Health Organisation (2015).

Cancer occurrence is rising in part due to an increasing and aging population but there are other factors that are involved in the onset of cancer pathologies which include smoking, the increasing segment of overweight population, lack of physical activity, shifting reproductive patterns and poor diet (Torre *et al*, 2015).

There are many types of malignancies, such as lung, breast, stomach, colorectal, head and neck and pancreatic carcinomas. In fact there are over 200 types of cancer are believed to exist (Cancer Research UK (2017). Investigations into the mutations that lead to cancer pathogenesis have revealed that these affect a range of regulatory pathways at cellular level that end in tumour formation (Cairns, Harris & Mak, 2011). Consequently, the efficacy of targeting individual signalling molecules is under scrutiny, as a variety of oncogenic signalling pathways are collaborating in order to adapt tumour cell metabolism to ensure growth and survival (Cairns, Harris & Mak, 2011).

The oldest mention of breast cancer known to date was found in an ancient Egyptian papyrus, written around 3000 BC. The papyrus is believed to be a textbook on surgery, describing breast cancer as having no treatment. However, Hippocrates, who was a Greek physician, also known for establishing the foundation for modern medicine, coined the word

carcinoma or carcinos. The term cancer, which was translated by Roman physician Celsus from Greek to Latin, translates into crab and the resemblance is due to blood vessels forming structures that are similar to crab legs (Hajdu, 2010; Sudhakar, 2009)

Developments in the field of cancer research and treatment was a slow process, mainly because most medical trends established during Galenic, Hippocratic or Dark Ages suggested that treating cancer may lead to further suffering and the consensus was that cancer was incurable. Although surgery has been established since ancient Egyptian times, the process was both painful and raw, leading to more complications and blood loss, which fuelled the idea of an incurable disease. It was another Greek physician, Galen, who coined the term *oncos*, which translates into swelling, also is used today to describe experts and specialists in the field of cancer. During the nineteenth and twentieth century, surgery was led into a new era, partly due to the newly installed field of anaesthesia and working in a sterilised environment. This allowed classic cancer operations to be undertaken, in particular a key breast cancer treatment that is still used today, the mastectomy (American Cancer Society, 2017).

1.2 Molecular mechanisms and breast cancer phenotypes

In modern times, to facilitate diagnostic and therapy pathways, breast cancers have been classified into subtypes using gene expression analysis. These subtypes have been identified and characterised via microarray technology (Tamimi et al, 2012; Sørlie et al, 2001). On the other hand, immunohistochemistry and nucleic acid in situ hybridization have confidently been used for the past 25 and 15 years respectively, and are considered cornerstones in identifying endocrine receptor (a receptor molecule that binds to either oestrogen or progesterone hormones) positive or negative and Her-2 amplified or non-

amplified subtypes, respectively (Pusztai et al, 2006). The more aggressive tumours are associated with the presence of Her-2, making the presence or lack thereof of Her-2 in tumours is a relevant prognostic factor and a relevant clinical target (Nahta and Esteva, 2003).

The main breast cancer subtypes are luminal A, luminal B, Her-2-enriched, basal-like breast cancer and normal like breast cancer which is known to represent endocrine receptor positive breast tumours (Tamimi et al, 2012; Creighton, 2012). Zardavas et al (2015) describes these subtypes based on the various levels of expression of the biomarker triplet – oestrogen Receptor (ER+), Progesterone Receptor and HER2 protein. Luminal A type cancer expresses Oestrogen and Progesterone Receptors (respectively ER and PR), with low proliferation index and decreased pathological grade. Luminal B tumours are ER and PR positive, are characterised by high proliferation rate and diminished response to hormonal treatment. HER2-enriched cancers are characterised by overexpression of HER2 gene and are associated with relapse and poor prognosis (Zardavas et al, 2015; Liu et al, 2015). Triple negative breast cancer (TNBC) also known as basal-like cancer does not express ER, PR or HER2 (Liu et al, 2015) and there is no well-established targeted therapy for this subtype as of yet (Creighton, 2012). Triple negative breast cancer subtype is known for is overexpressing EGFR, the first member of the Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor family. This subtype is associated with poor response to therapy leading to poor prognosis (Zardavas et al, 2015). As such, EGFR is a potential target for future drug development endeavours focused on triple negative breast cancer management. In a study conducted by Liu et al (2015), the difference between basal and HER2 enriched subtypes was investigated via immunohistochemical (Dittadi et al, 1993) and statistical analysis. From a clinicopathological point of view, the investigation revealed the luminal type breast cancers are less aggressive compared to basal and HER2 enriched types. Moreover, basal-like cancers overexpressed more EGFR than all other cancer subtypes

(Liu et al, 2015). The relationship between growth factors and respective oncogenes is evident and, as far as EGFR is concerned, it plays an important role in cell growth, proliferation and differentiation, since its phosphorylation activates signalling pathways involved in these cell processes (Herbst, 2004). In other words, many healthy cells express 4 x 10⁴ to 1 x 10⁵ receptors per cell, while some breast tumours express up to 2 x 10⁶ receptors per cell (Herbst, 2004). Other markers used in this study included Ki-67, which is a nuclear antigen with a role in cell proliferation, and p53 tumour suppressor gene, with a role in cell transformation and characterisation (Liu et al, 2015). The result of the investigation revealed that HER2-enriched and basal-like or triple negative breast cancers are more aggressive, given the higher expression of EGFR and Ki-67 compared to luminal breast cancer. Claudin-low subtype was identified in 2007 and the investigations into hierarchical gene clustering revealed this subtype is close related to basal-like subtype (Eroles et al, 2012; Prat and Perou, 2011).

Up to a study on 78 breast cancer samples (Sørlie et al, 2001), the convention for breast cancer classification was rather simple: a basal epithelial-like group, a HER2 overexpressing group and a normal-like breast cancer subtype group. By systematically investigating the gene expression patters in human breast tumours, Perou et al (2000) found different independent gene clusters reflecting the histological variation of breast cancers, such as endothelial cells stromal cells, adipose-enriched cells, lymphocytes, T lymphocytes and macrophages.

1.3 The Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor family

Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor or EGFR is one of the four members of the Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor family, comprising of EGFR, HER-2, HER-3 and HER-4. The four genes encoding the members of the Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor are c-erbB-2/HER2, cerbB3/HER3 and c-erbB4/HER4 (Herbst, 2004). Dysregulation of their activity or the pathways

related to these growth factor receptors are present in various cancer pathologies, including breast cancer (Lurje and Lenz, 2009; Harbeck et al, 2013).

Multicellular organisms owe their intricacy and complexity to one particular event in evolution: emergence of signalling pathways between cells. These systems are communication channels between cells or environment, fine-tuned to receive, interpret, follow or create instructions for or from other cells and/or environment. A powerful tool in the molecular biology of signalling pathways are cell surface receptors. Receptor tyrosine kinases are skilful chaperones for pathways involved in cell proliferation, differentiation and other cell processes relevant for the pathobiology of many cancer types (Kovacs et al, 2015).

One of the hallmarks of cancer as described by Hanahan and Weinberg (2011) is sustainable proliferative signalling which is described as a fundamental trait in cancerous cells. Breast cancers are the result of clonal expansion events, where daughter cells inherit mutations that provide them with a selective advantage (Curigliano and Criscitiello, 2014). When investigated via genome wide sequencing, these mutations can reveal their role in the selection process, whether they are driver or passenger (not involved in the selective process) (Curiglino and Criscitiello, 2014). By disrupting the normal growth and cell division regulatory circuits, cancer cells become able to sustain chronic proliferation (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011; Stamos, Sliwkowski & Eigenbert, 2002). The signals involved in cell proliferation and apoptosis begin with the phosphorylation of cell surface growth factor receptors i.e. the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR).

EGFR belongs to the ErbB family of receptor tyrosine kinases (RTK's) and was the first receptor tyrosine kinase to be discovered (Bazley and Gullick, 2005, Herbst, 2004). These cell surface receptors possess tyrosine kinase activity and are found exclusively in metazoans (Stein & Staros, 2000). The completed human genome revealed 58 of the 90 tyrosine kinase

sequences are receptor tyrosine kinases (Kovacs et al, 2015). The 11 ligands identified for mammalian EGFR are the Epidermal growth factor (EGF), transforming growth factor- α (TGF α), heparin-binding EGF (HB-EGF), betacellulin, amphiregulin, epiregulin, epigen and the neuregulins (NRG's) 1-4 (Bazley and Gullick, 2005). Initial investigations brought up by the discovery of the EGFR provided insight in the mechanisms by which receptor tyrosine kinases function and aided scientists in identifying a link between an activated oncogene and cancer (Bazley and Gullick, 2005).

All receptor tyrosine kinases consist of three main domains: an extracellular domain with a ligand binding region, a transmembrane domain and a C-terminal, intracellular domain. The intracellular domain comprises of a juxtamembrane region, a catalytic tyrosine kinase domain and a carboxyl terminal tail.



Fig. 1 – Structure of Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor

EGFRs are transmembrane proteins, which are activated (phosphorylated) following binding of the EGF and dimerization of the receptor (Normanno et al, 2006). However, there is no known ligand for HER-2 and HER-3 lacks tyrosine kinase activity (Harbeck et al, 2013). Both EGFR and EGF are found to be overexpressed in several cancer malignancies such as breast cancer but also lung, neck and colorectal to name a few. Scientific investigations show that these proteins together are able to induce cell transformations (Normanno et al, 2006). Amplification of the EGFR gene and mutations of the EGFR tyrosine kinase domain are common in various cancer pathologies and receptor tyrosine kinases have been found to be overexpressed or mutated in some breast cancer subtypes associated with high mortality rates (Normanno et al, 2006, Herbst, 2004, Zhang et al, 2007), such as inflammatory and triple negative breast cancer. In terms of activation, EGFR undergoes a series of structural events meant to integrate various inputs (signals) and yield several outputs (functions) via signalling pathways. The EGFR signalling pathways are involved in a series of important cellular process such as growth, proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis. Abnormal oncogenic phosphorylation of EGFR or any other member of ErbB family of receptors will disturb the normal course of the cellular processes these control. The structure of the cytoplasmic region of EGFR consists of three domains. The juxtamembrane domain is required for feedback by protein kinase C; the noncatalytic carboxy-terminal tail with the required six tyrosine transphosphorylation sites is required for binding to adaptor/effector proteins and finally the central tyrosine kinase domain which is responsible with relaying transphosphorylation of the six carboxyl tyrosine residues (Bazley and Gullick, 2005; Kovacs et al, 2015). This region is the focus for some targeted therapies (Zhang et al, 2007). The EGFR family of receptor tyrosine kinases is known to affect various cellular and physiological processes in breast cancer and deregulated EGFR pathways promote tumorigenesis and metastasis (O'Brien et al, 2014). As such, EGFR overexpression is associated with poor prognosis and differentiation. In addition, the phenomenon is more common in triple negative breast cancer (see previous section) and inflammatory breast cancer, the two most aggressive breast cancers subtypes (Ueno and Zhang, 2011; Eroles et al, 2012). Inflammatory breast cancer is very difficult to manage as treatment is lacking appropriate strategies and clinical targets (Van Laere et al., 2013; Morrow et al., 2017). Although limited by their efficiency and clinical response, there are treatment approaches available for triple negative breast cancer, but the consensus

dictates there are no standard procedures (Oakman et al, 2010). Treatments include anthracyclines, taxanes, platinum based chemotherapeutic agents and bevacizumab in European countries (Oakman et al, 2010; Swain et al, 2013).

Some of the signalling pathways activated by EGFR family are the Ras-Raf-MAPK, JAK/Stat and PI3K/Akt/mTOR (Figure 1) pathways (Eroles et al, 2012; Masuda et al, 2012). Any imbalance in activation or mediation of these pathways affects a range of cellular and physiological processes directly involved in malignant transformation in breast cancer (Masuda et al, 2012, Eroles et al, 2012). For instance, mutations associated with the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway are molecular signatures for aggressiveness and chemoresistance in metastatic breast cancer (Guerrero-Zotano et al, 2016). The PI3K/Akt pathway is a mediator for mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), which influences cell growth and proliferation via biosynthesis of proteins, lipids and by limiting catabolic processes (Zaytseva et al, 2012).



EGFR expression in breast malignancies is associated with lack of oestrogen receptors, which is often rendering hormonal therapy as ineffective (Curigliano and Criscitiello, 2014). EGFR is also a driver for tumour proliferation, meaning the presence of EGFR in breast cancer subtypes basal-like, luminal B and normal like is often a poor prognosis hallmark (Eroles et al, 2012).

In an investigation by Shi et al in 2012 showed that nuclear EGFR was found to activate the cyclin D1 gene, which plays a key role in proliferation regulation, via transcription in the cell nucleus. This new pathway is believed to transport EGFR, following binding with EGF, to the cell nucleus with the aid of binding co-factor STAT3 or via the integral trafficking from the ER to the Nuclear Envelope Transport model (Brand et al, 2013). According to the same study, presence of nuclear EGFR and FGFR is associated with proliferation in breast cancers, and can be potential prognostic factors (Hsu et al, 2009).

Adenosine monophosphate AMP-activated Protein Kinase has been observed to inhibit the overall development of malignancies, by disabling growth factors from stimulating oncogenic processes (Jhaveri et al, 2015). The gaps in knowledge and other underlying issues, such as investigation of secondary tumours (Zardavas et al, 2014) push the continuous research in the field of breast cancer.

Another set of recurrent issues in current research focused on oncology related fields are increased costs. Translating research into clinical trials has a low success rate, due to factors such as disease type, inadequate or insufficient cell lines or insufficient number of experiments (Begley and Ellis, 2012). Available data and literature are the basis for most investigations and drug development endeavours, more so regarding novel therapies and molecular targets (Begley and Ellis, 2012). Traditional treatment courses of therapy provide decent response and survival rates. However, the high grade of non-selectivity of these drugs

leads to cytotoxic symptoms and many patients do not tolerate these drugs very well (Esteva, 2004). Understanding the molecular intricacies of breast cancer is a powerful tool in developing novel targeted drugs (Nahta and Esteva, 2003). The purpose of many studies on novel therapies is to target the molecular aspects of transformed cells, leading to better response rates and less toxicity to normal cells (Esteva, 2004).

1.4 Current therapies

Traditionally, all types of cancer malignancies have been managed via the three main therapies: surgery, chemotherapy and radiotherapy. However, more tailored treatments have now been developed for many cancers including breast cancer. These treatments include hormonal therapy, antibody therapy and immunotherapy (Adams, 2017).

In modern medicine, surgery is used in a multidisciplinary setting, to improve prognosis. Surgery is employed in early stage disease, when the tumour is accessible and is not affecting any vital organs or elements thus limiting its effectives in cases were the tumour spreads termed metastasis (Dimitrov et al, 2017). As common practice, a border of healthy tissue is removed during the process, to diminish the chances of recurrence. As far as breast cancer is concerned, there are two types of surgery. The first is lumpectomy, which conserves most of the breast tissue and removes primary tumours, also known as wide local excision. The second is mastectomy, which is removal of all breast tissue (Ohsumi et al, 2007, Dimitrov et al, 2017). Historically, William Stuart Halsted developed radical breast removal as a surgical anti-cancer therapy during the nineteenth century. In 1970, clinical trials and new developments led to the conclusion that local excisions will be just as effective in treating breast cancer, followed by radiation therapy (Dimitrov et al, 2017). John Collins Warren (1778-1856) together with Joseph Colt Bloodgood (1867-1935), two American surgeons,

ushered a new trend in surgical treatment of breast cancer by advocating for pre-surgery biopsy (Lakhtakia & Chinoy, 2014). Following suit, Sir George Lenthal Cheatle (1865-1951) and Dr Max Cutler documented all their findings from performing surgery and biopsies and thus creating the first modern textbook of breast cancer (Lakhtakia & Chinoy, 2014).

Radiotherapy found a niche in the field of cancer treatment following Wilhelm Conrad Roentgen's discovery of a new type of ray, in 1896. The name X-ray was given since 'x' was the algebraic symbol for unknown quantity. In the next three years from discovery, x-rays were used in cancer treatments. As a result, in 1901 Roentgen was awarded the first Nobel Prize in Physics. Soon after the discovery of the x-ray, Pierre and Marie Curie, in France, discovered the radioactive potential of uranium and isolated radium. Consequently, radium was introduced in the radiation therapy of cancer (Hajdu, 2012). However, radiotherapy in its early years was a raw process, consisting of prolonged exposures to radiation, with severe side effects, including the onset of malignancies (Hajdu, 2012). The initial machines were not very accurate and healthy tissue was often damaged in the process. To alleviate side effects caused by prolonged exposure, smaller doses over a short period of time were proposed as an alternative. In 1911 Claudius Regaud proved that smaller doses of radiation are just as effective but with less side effects and thus fractionated radiotherapy became the norm (Connel and Hellman, 2009). In contemporary medicine, radiotherapy is used in palliative treatment, as adjuvant to chemotherapy or surgery and to manage and alleviate metastasis symptoms.

In 1878, Thomas Beatson observed how removing ovaries in mice would stop breast milk production. This observation led to an experiment where he removed ovaries in patients with advanced breast cancer. In turn, he discovered the stimulating effect of the female

ovarian hormone – oestrogen. Beatson's discovery laid the foundation for both modern hormonal therapy and endocrine surgery (Hajdu, 2010; Lakhtakia & Chinoy, 2014).

Hormonal therapy is effective in cases were the tumours overexpress oestrogen receptors. The effects of endocrine therapy are not fully understood for tumours overexpressing progesterone receptors. It is mainly used as adjuvant therapy, following surgery, to prevent recurrence, secondary tumours or metastasis. It can also be used before surgery, to reduce the size of the tumour or when surgery is not an option (Locker et al, 1998).

Unfortunately, all these options present with their own limitations, highlighting the need for novel anti-cancer therapies. These limitations are found in all three traditional lines of treatments. For instance, surgical removal of tumours should be carried out on patients with non-metastatic cancers (Rashid and Takabe, 2014) however, the role of mastectomy in breast cancer is still questioned. It is also believed that removing the primary tumour in a metastatic disease can promote proliferation, but the study was not critically evaluated (Rashid and Takabe, 2014). Due to faster multiplication than normal cells, transformed cells can acquire resistance to chemotherapeutic agents, making chemotherapy a rather limited cancer management strategy (Eroles et al, 2012). Hormonal therapy, on the other hand depends on the presence of hormone receptors (HR) in a tumour and is therefore restricted to less aggressive tumours, not usually associated with negative clinical outcomes (Eroles et al, 2012).

1.5 Targeted therapies

Tumour microenvironment and molecular subtype dictates the therapy strategy, which is the premise for personalised therapy (Curigliano and Criscitiello, 2014). The role the members of the Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Family plays in the onset and evolution

of solid tumours has been widely recognized (Arteaga and Engleman, 2014). Beatson, who discovered removal of ovaries in premenopausal women with advanced breast cancer leads to tumour regression, was a forerunner of hormone therapy (Locker et al, 1998).

Tamoxifen was the first agent in a class of drugs called selective oestrogen receptor modulators, which was originally developed as an oral contraceptive (Brown, 2009). The mechanism of action of tamoxifen has been described as a partial oestrogen antagonist in humans, blocking the effect of oestrogen in the mammary glands by binding to the oestrogen receptor alpha (ERα) (Ward et al, 2014; Brown, 2009). Adverse effects include increase in occurrence in vein thrombosis or pulmonary embolism (Brown, 2009). Reports describe resistance mechanisms acquired by patients treated in the long term with tamoxifen and disease relapse (Ward et al, 2014). Tamoxifen resistance in mammary tumours is linked with activation of the PKA pathway (Bentin Toaldo et al, 2014).

Aromatase is an enzyme complex present in the placenta and in the granulosa cell of the ovarian follicles (Smith and Dowsett, 2003). The same complex is a catalyst in the conversion of androgens into estrogens (Lephart and Simpson, 1991). Hurvitz et al., 2015 report in breast cancer cell lines to determine drug response of Everolimus but these need validating. The first aromatase inhibitor was aminoglutethimide, initially meant as an anticonvulsant (Smith and Dowsett, 2003). Due to reports of adrenal insufficiency, the drug was withdrawn and redeveloped for use in breast cancer treatment (Smith and Dowsett, 2003). Following the discovery of aminoglutethimide, new series of aromatase inhibitors have been developed, named as first-, second- and third-generation inhibitors, respective to their chronological order of discovery (Smith and Dowsett, 2003, Fabian, 2007). Third-generation aromatase inhibitors are reportedly associated with better performance, fewer side effects, and higher specificity for the aromatase enzyme (Fabian, 2007). In spite of their association

with fewer side effects, the use third-generation aromatase inhibitors is linked to hot flushes, vaginal dryness, fatigue, nausea and loss of bone mineral density (Fabian, 2007). All third-generation aromatase inhibitors are subdivided into steroidal and non-steroidal which bind to aromatase irreversibly and reversibly, respectively (Fabian, 2007). Anastrozole, letrozole and exemestane are all third-generation aromatase inhibitors, which are orally administered on a daily basis (Smith and Dowsett, 2003, Fabian, 2007).

Traditional lines of treatment in cancer management are accompanied by severe cytotoxic events due to disruption of several cellular processes present in both normal and transformed cells, as these treatments cannot distinguish between cancer and normal cells (Arora and Scholar, 2005). Understanding the molecular differences between normal and transformed cells is critical in designing drugs and developing treatments with limited cytotoxic consequences (Arnedos et al, 2015). Cells found in solid tumours exhibit special features compared to normal cells, such as high levels of the EGFR family of cell surface growth factor receptors, a dissimilarity, which can be exploited in drug development endeavours (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011). By forming homo or hetero dimers, these cell surface receptors undergo internalisation followed by phosphorylation of the intracellular tyrosine kinase domain. This in turn will trigger a cascade of signals, ending in alterations impacting proliferation, apoptosis and metastasis (Zhang et al, 2007; Herbst, 2004). The first rational targeted therapy to exploit the aberrant EGFR presence in transformed cells was monoclonal antibody therapy (mAbs) which targets the extracellular domain of the receptor. The first monoclonal antibody was found to cause reversible downregulation of the cell surface receptors and thus reverse the phenotype of transformed cells grown on soft agar (Zhang et al, 2007). The first study was carried out in 1985, on nude mice (Drebin et al, 1986). Initially, the scientists immunized mice with the cell line B104-1-1, transformed to express the

her2-neu oncogene in order to produce these antibodies (Zhang et al, 2007). However, this antibody had reduced affinity for the human homologue of HER-2 (Zhang et al, 2007). A human homologue was developed later on -4D5- which had inhibitory effects on breast cancer cells through HER-2 expression dependant antibody-dependant cellular toxicity (Zhang et al, 2007). To control the immunological aftermath of using mouse antibodies in human cancers, a recombinant version was developed, engineered on human framework regions (Drebin et al, 1986; Carter et al, 1992, Chowdhury and Ellis, 2014). The humanised version of 4D5 was named trastuzumab, also known as Herceptin and was approved as appropriate for the treatment of metastatic breast cancer (Slamon et al, 2001). The human recombinant version of 4D5 had a greater affinity for HER2, its target, and controlled antibody-dependant cellular toxicity. Trastuzumab targets the extracellular domain of HER2 (Chowdhury and Ellis, 2014) and it is mainly used for metastatic breast cancer patients in combination with chemotherapeutic agents (Zhang et al, 2007). By binding to the extracellular or IV domain of the receptor it prevents proteolytic cleavage of HER2 extracellular domain (Kovacs et al, 2015). Trastuzumab prevents ligand dependant signalling however cannot prevent ligand activated HER-2/HER-3 or HER-2/EGFR, which is believed to be a resistance mechanism (Harbeck et al, 2013)

Cetuximab resulted from efforts to reduce immunogenicity of EGFR-specific monoclonal antibodies by making a chimeric antibody version containing the variable region of EGFR-specific mAbs and human Immunoglobulin G1 constant region (Zhang et al, 2007). Cetuximab has been used as a therapy for triple negative stage IV breast cancer, both on its own and in combination with carboplatin (Carey et al, 2012). The Translational Breast Cancer Research Consortium carried out the study, as there were no previous investigations done on Cetuximab in metastatic breast cancer. Another investigation reports the positive results of

Cetuximab and cisplatin together as treatment for triple negative breast cancer (Baselga et al., 2013).

Pertuzumab (Perjeta, Genentech, Inc.) is the first drug of its kind, a new class of HER2 dimerization inhibitor and it was developed based on the human immunoglobulin G1 sequence. This particular monoclonal antibody targets the second member of the EGFR family, HER2 (Amiri-Kordestani et al, 2014) by preventing dimerization with HER-3 (Dall'Ora, 2015). Trastuzumab and pertuzumab bind to different epitopes of the HER-2 extracellular and are used in combination therapy for HER-2 positive metastatic breast cancer (Swain et al., 2015, Harbeck et al., 2013). Clinical studies revealed pertuzumab is well tolerated with adverse effects such as diarrhoea, rash, asthenia, vomiting, nausea and abdominal pain (Harbeck et al, 2013).

Margetuximab is a chimeric monoclonal antibody targeting the extracellular domain of HER-2 receptor. Margetuximab is a modified molecule with enhanced antibody dependant cellular toxicity (ADCC) (Perez, Rugo and Vahdat, 2013). This antibody has gone through phase I clinical trial, showing positive results and is now entering phase II clinical trial, in which patients with metastatic breast cancer will be enrolled (Perez, Rugo and Vahdat, 2013). The same authors also report new data for everolimus, an agent targeting the mTOR protein. mTOR together with PI3K pathways are associated with endocrine therapy resistance in patients with hormone positive tumours (Perez, Rugo and Vahdat, 2013). The potential of therapies targeting downstream signalling pathways in breast cancer are being tested currently in clinical settings, with promising results, as it is believed these strategies will affect tumorigenesis at multiple levels (Brufsky, 2014). Other agents in clinical development include glembatumumab vedotin and neratinib (Perez, Rugo and Vahdat, 2013).

Another form of targeted therapy includes tyrosine kinase inhibitors, which bind to the ATP intracellular binding site of the cell surface growth factors receptors (Opdam et al, 2012).

Lapatinib is a tyrosine kinase inhibitor, which affects both EGFR and HER-2 (Opdam et al, 2012; Arora and Scholar, 2005). When scientists discovered the role EGFR and HER-2 played in various types of cancer cellular processes, they also realised cancer patients would benefit from treatments inhibiting both of their activity simultaneously (Rusnak and Gilmer, 2011). Finding the appropriate active compound, 4-anilinoquinazoline (Rana and Sridhar, 2012; (National Centre for Biotechnology Information, 2017) depended on a series of improvements in drug discovery such as novel chemistry, broad kinase screening tests and cell testing platforms, which included both EGFR and HER-2 cell lines together with appropriate controls (Rusnak and Gilmer, 2011). Lapatinib has potent inhibitory effects on both EGFR and HER-2 and thus negatively affects the subsequent pathways involving MAPK and AKT pathways. This in turn induces apoptosis in a range of cancers, including breast cancer (Zhang et al, 2007). In addition, the combination between trastuzumab and lapatinib has proven efficient in tumours overexpressing HER-2 and the use of lapatinib in trastuzumab resistant cell lines reduces phosphorylation of the trastuzumab resistant pathways (Rana and Sridhar, 2012). Relapse in patients treated with lapatinib is still a subject of research, but a few mechanisms have been proposed, such as mutations within the HER-2 receptor, mutations and over phosphorylation of the PI3K pathway and over expression of other receptor involved in tumorigenesis (Rana and Sridhar, 2012). Clinically, lapatinib has been approved in combination with capecitabine for HER2 positive metastatic breast cancer (Geyer et al., 2006) and in combination with letrozole for HER2 and hormone receptor positive metastatic breast cancer (Rana and Sridhar, 2012). Headache, rash, cold and gastrointestinal

symptoms were among the side effects exhibited during treatment with lapatinib (Rana and Sridhar, 2012).

1.6 AURORA: the international initiative for the investigation of metastatic breast cancer

Breast cancer treatment and management are not only limited by the effectiveness of the existing medicines, but also by the gaps in knowledge. For instance, many investigations into the molecular diversity of the tumour have been focused on primary tumours (Zardavas et al, 2014). In order to gain more knowledge on the subsequent mutations and changes in tumour and cell environment in secondary tumours, a representative number of patients need to be involved (Curtis et al, 2012). AURORA is a programme started by Breast International Group – (BIG) in order to not only identify mutations and aberrations occurring between first and secondary tumours (Zardavas et al, 2014) but also to innovate clinical trials by characterising metastatic breast tumours and identifying appropriate clinical targets (BIG, 2017). One of the goals would be for next-generation sequencing tools to create a smooth path towards personalised medicine (Russnes et al, 2011).

Variations between breast cancer patients and variations within a single tumour have been labelled tumour inter- and intra-heterogeneity respectively and the causes for these events are not yet fully described as breast cancer tumour progression paths remain undefined (Russnes et al, 2011). Tumour heterogeneity is also associated with drug resistance (Russness et al, 2011; Fisher et al, 2013). Both intra- and inter-tumour heterogeneity are drivers for mutations, leading to metastatic diseases exhibiting new molecular aberrations that in turn will affect the course of treatments (Zardavas et al, 2014). Acquired resistance to a drug is a response to molecular evolution and selective pressures to various drugs used during the course of treatment (Zardavas et al, 2014). The programme will include 1300 initially and will include clinical setting in Europe (Zardavas et al, 2014). Patients who will be part of the study will provide at least one metastatic tissue sample, tissue from primary tumour, blood, plasma and serum samples. The samples will be subject to DNA and RNA sequencing and a dedicated software will report results to clinicians (Zardavas et al, 2014). Breast International Group will launch clinical trials in order to identify any emerging clinical targets for metastatic breast cancer (Zardavas et al, 2014).

1.6 Alternative molecular biology niches

The cancer phenotype exhibits a range of critical traits that provide the context for development of novel therapies (Sledge & Miller, 2003; Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000). These features or "hallmarks" are described by Hanahan and Weinberg first in 2000, when the authors initially counted six such traits. Since then, the paper became a landmark in the field of oncology (Sledge & Miller, 2003). The authors revised their initial paper and in 2011, publishing a second piece of work that not only presents the original hallmarks in more detail but also introduces four new traits that emerged as a consequence of progress in research. The hallmarks, in no particular order, are as follows: (1) sustaining proliferative signalling, (2) evading growth suppressors, (3) activating invasion and metastasis, (4) enabling replicative immortality, (5) inducing angiogenesis and (6) resisting cell death, with (7) avoiding immune destructions, (8) tumour promoting inflammation, (9) genome instability and (10) deregulating cellular energetics introduced in the paper published in 2011 as emerging traits (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011).

For instance in the case of breast cancer, scientists are looking at the gene makeup of the tumour to determine which genes are switched on and therefore tailor an appropriate therapy (Deluche, Onesti and Andre, 2015).

Systems Biology is another pathway for studying and distinguishing the different breast cancer pathologies (Song et al., 2017). This relativity new discipline involves the use of mathematical modelling and high throughput technologies with the purpose of identifying the right combination of treatments and predict clinical outcome (Yarden and Pines, 2012).

1.7 Venom components as potential EGFR targets

Since the mammary cancer treatment landscape consists mainly of hydrophobic, chemotherapeutic substances that are often accompanied by side effects, poor clinical outcomes and acquired resistance (Lage, 2003), the need to look for alternative drugs is relevant and vital. Some of the currently used tyrosine kinase inhibitors are also limited in clinical strategy in terms of their multiple targets (Appert-Collin et al, 2015).

Venoms are intricate cocktails of disulphide rich peptides, small molecules and salts (Saez et el, 2010, Sannaningaiah et al, 2014). A large number of species from the class Arachnida employ venom as either a hunting or defence strategy. Since spiders are present in many ecological niches and are successfully adjusted to diverse food availability, their adaptive traits and dietary preferences reflect in venom composition. For instance, some species from suborder Araneomorphae use a venom rich in insect specific toxins. On the other hand, the venom of larger species from suborder Mygalomorphae contains mammalian specific toxins (Matavel et al, 2015) as these species feed on larger organisms, such as birds, amphibians and small fish. As such, venom composition is species specific (Vassilevski et al, 2009). Many of the molecules in these venoms have been selected throughout evolution

based on their effectiveness in killing or paralysing prey and predators (Sunagar et al.,2014; Sunagar and Moran, 2015; Matavel et al, 2015), each species dosing their venom according to factors such as sex, nutrition and climate (Vassilevski et al, 2009). Venoms act on both a local and systemic level, causing toxicity and dermatological issues at the bite site and affecting hosts' nervous, motor and circulatory systems. However, many venoms are currently recognised for their influence on ion channels, making them ideal candidates in the search for new pain killers and analgesics (Trim & Trim, 2013). The reason behind this niche filling strategy is the diverse range of systems, surface receptors and channels these toxins disturb once entered the host bloodstream. It is the reason why these toxins are ideal research subjects for scientific investigations focused on treating neurological disorders, pain or cancer (King, 2013).

Most spider venom compositions comprise of polypeptides and target specific toxins which affect vital systems once injected into a host (Calvete et al, 2009). Each venom contains over one hundred different biologically active components, making each venom a vast, protein diverse media (Vassilevski, 2009). Given the large number of species and the protein richness of each secretion, it is estimated that over 12 million peptides are predicted to be identified from spider venoms (Saez et al, 2010). This variety and the high specificity exhibited by venoms in suborder Mygalomorphae make venomous secretions a novel tool in modern pharmacology (Vassilevski, 2009). Consequently, biopharmaceutical community recognizes the value of arachnid venom in research.

Since venoms have been employed in hunting, natural selection has been a driving engine for toxin efficacy. Consequently, venom toxins exhibit high levels of affinity for molecular targets (King, 2013). The toxins can be classified according to their biological activity as neurotoxic, cardio toxic, hemolytic, digestive, hemorrhagic and algogenic (Kumar,

2014). Hemotoxins affect red blood cells and target the circulatory system and muscle tissue (Kumar, 2014; Tambourgi, D.V., 1994) Neurotoxins affect the central nervous system, inhibiting ion movement across cell membrane (Kumar, 2014). Cardiotoxins affect the heart and cardiac muscle by binding to particular sites and stopping cardiac muscle contractions (Kumar, 2014). The six FDA approved drugs that have been synthesized following research on venom target mainly cardiac pathologies and are derived from snake venoms (King, 2013). Although spiders are considered the most successful synthesisers of venom, the amounts obtained from one extraction were considered scant for any scientific investigations (King, 2013). Recent advances in the field of omics have allowed for this niche to be slowly filled (King, 2013).

Some compounds are commonly found in venoms, such as alkaloids, terpenes, polysaccharides, amino acids and small proteins called peptides. The later are a very important part of venom composition as they exhibit catalytic effect, are thermally stable and proteolysis resistant (Kumar, 2014). Scorpion, spider and snake are three of the main clades with medically relevant venomous secretions.

Snake venoms, according to its systemic effects, can be: hemotoxic, affecting cardiovascular functions and circulatory system; cytotoxic, targeting cellular sites, cellular membranes and affecting signal transduction or neurotoxic, damaging for the host' nervous system (Vyas et al, 2013, Casewell et al., 2014, Costa, 2014). Unlike spider venoms, snake venoms rarely exhibit more than one major system effect, following envenomation. Disintegrins are abundant in snake venom and have been utilised in many studies, particularly for their role in platelet aggregation, inflammatory action and inhibitory effect on tumour cells (Chakrabarty and Chanda, 2015; Thangam et al, 2012). They have been shown to limit the progression of breast cancer when delivered to the tumours using liposomes in a

xenograft model (Swenson et al., 2004). Disintegrins are low molecular weight molecules, with varying structure, strength and affinity for various molecular targets and were initially found through investigations on viperid venom (Vyas et al, 2013). Suto et al (2005) report the identification of two snake-derived Vascular Endothelial Growth Factors, which are a family of four proteins with an important role in the creation of new blood vessels in tumours. Although similar, both VEGF proteins identified from snake venoms exhibited different features, in comparison to other VEGF proteins and to each other (Suto et al, 2005). Osipov et al (2014) report the isolation of neurotrophin found in cobra venom. The concentration of neurotrophin was found to be as high as 0.5% (Osipov et al, 2014). Both mammalian and snake-derived neurotrophin are similar and structure and function, making the costs of neurotrophin plummet, given the easy isolation of the protein from snake venom (Osipov et al, 2014). Another study reports the interactions between Cerastes Cerastes viper and VEGF (Ben-Mabrouk et al, 2016). Two disintegrins found in this species venom have been consequently found to have pro-apoptotic effects and down-regulate signalling pathways involved in tumorigenesis (Ben-Mabrouk et al, 2016). Al-Asmari et al (2016) investigated the effects of snake venom on cell line MDA-MB-231 in a time and concentration dependant experimental setting.

Venoms are valuable in the development of novel drugs (Zambelli et al, 2016).

1.8 Conclusion and perspectives

Given the drawbacks of all of the current therapies, such as the difficult management of triple negative and inflammatory breast cancer (Masuda et al, 2012), the lack of appropriate clinical targets in the case of both triple negative and inflammatory breast cancer (Carey et al, 2012) and the increasing number of breast cancer occurrence worldwide (Torre

et al, 2015), the field of drug development needs more alternatives to look into for future drug design efforts. Scientific literature is plentiful in examples of investigations made on venoms research in different settings and for various purposes. Breast cancer overexpressing EGFR is a niche topic, for which more research is needed to overcome the shortcomings of current breast cancer management. Most of the drugs derived from venoms target cardiovascular or chronic pain according to literature thus allowing the mammary cancer management niche yet unfilled. At the same time, there are plenty of ongoing studies on the interactions between human cancers and various types of venom. At the same time, the need to identify, describe and understand the effects of venoms and venomous peptides, more research is needed.

1.9 References

• Adams, S. (2017) 'Dramatic response of metaplastic breast cancer to chemoimmunotherapy', *NPJ Breast Cancer*, 3(8) doi: 10.1038/s41523-017-0011-0.

• Al-Asmari, A., Anvarbatcha, R., Al-Shahrani, M. and Islam, M. (2016) 'Snake venom causes apoptosis by increasing the reactive oxygen species in colorectal and breast cancer cell lines', *OncoTargets and Therapy*, 9, pp. 6485–6498.

• American Cancer Society (2017) *Early history of cancer?*. Available at <u>https://www.cancer.org/cancer/cancer-basics/history-of-cancer/what-is-cancer.html</u> (Accessed:3 July 2017).

• Amiri-Kordestani, L., Wedam, S., Zhang, L., Tang, S., Tilley, A., Ibrahim, A., Justice, R., Pazdur, R. and Cortazar, P. (2014) 'First FDA Approval of Neoadjuvant Therapy for Breast Cancer: Pertuzumab for the Treatment of Patients with HER2-Positive Breast Cancer', *Clinical Cancer Research*. 1(20). pp. 5359-5364.

• Appert-Collin, A., Hubert, P., Cremel, G., Bennasroune, A. (2015). 'Role of ErbB Receptors in Cancer Cell Migration and Invasion', *Front. Phamacol.*, 6, 283, doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2015.00283.

• Arnedos, M., Vicier, C., Loi, S., Lefebvre, C., Michiels, S., Bonnefoi, H. and Andre, F. (2015) 'Precision medicine for metastatic breast cancer—limitations and solutions', *Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol*, 21(10). doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2015.123.

• Arora, A. and Scholar, E. M. (2005) 'Role of Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors in Cancer Therapy', *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 315(3) pp 971-979.

• Arteaga, C. L. and Engelman, J. A. (2014) 'ERBB Receptors: From Oncogene Discovery to Basic Science to Mechanism-Based Cancer Therapeutics', *Cancer Cell*, 25(3), pp. 282–303. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2014.02.025.

• Baselga, J., Gómez, P., Greil, R., Braga, S., Climent, M.A., Wardley, A.M., Kaufman, B., Stemmer, S.M., Pêgo, A., Chan, A., Goeminne, J.C., Graas, M.P., Kennedy, M.J., Ciruelos, Gil, E.M., Schneeweiss. A., Zubel. A., Groos, J., Melezínková, H., Awada, A. (2013) Randomized phase II study of the anti-epidermal growth factor receptor monoclonal antibody cetuximab with cisplatin versus cisplatin alone in patients with metastatic triple-negative breast cancer. *J. Clin. Onco.* 31(20), pp2586-2592.

• Bazley, L.A., Gullick, W.J. (2005) 'The epidermal growth factor receptor family.', *Endocrine-related cancer*. 12, S17-S27. doi: 10.1677/erc.1.01032.

• Begley, C. and Ellis, L. (2012) 'Drug development: Raise standards for preclinical cancer research.' *Nature*. 483(7391) pp 531-533.

• Ben-Mabrouk, H., Zouari-Kessentini, R., Montassar, F., Koubaa, Z., Messaadi, E., Guillonneau, X., ElAyeb, M., Srairi-Abid, N., Luis, J., Micheau, O. and Marrakchi, N. (2016) 'CC5 and CC8, two homologous disintegrins from *Cerastes cerastes* venom, inhibit in vitro and ex vivo angiogenesis.' *International Journal of biological Macromolecules*, 86, pp 670-680.

• Bentin Toaldo, C., Alexi, X., Beelen, K., Kok, M., Hauptmann, M., Jansen, M., Berns, E., Neefjes, J., Linn, S., Michalides, R., Zwart, W. (2015) 'Protein Kinase A-induced tamoxifen resistance is mediated by anchoring protein AKAP13.', BMC Cancer, 15, pp588. doi: 10.1186/s12885-015-1591-4.

• Brand, T. M., Lida, M., Luthar, N., Starr, M. M., Huppert, E. J. and Wheeler, D. L. (2013) 'Nuclear EGFR as a molecular target in cancer.', *Radiotherapy and oncology*, 108(3), pp. 370– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.radonc.2013.06.010.

• Brown, K. (2009) 'Is tamoxifen a genotoxic carcinogen in women', Mutagenesis. Pp1-14. doi:10.1093/mutage/gep022

• Brufsky, A. M. (2014) 'Current Approaches and Emerging Directions in HER2-resistant Breast Cancer.', *Breast cancer : basic and clinical research*. 8, pp. 109–18.

• Cairns, R.A., Harris, I.S. and Mak, T.W. (2011) 'Regulation of cancer cell metabolism.', Nav.Rev. Cancer. 11(2), pp85-95. doi:10.1038/nrc2981

• Calvete, J.J., Sanz, L., Angulo, Y., Lomonte, B., Gutierrez, J.M. (2009) 'Venoms, venomics, antivenomics'. *FEBS letters*. 583, pp 1736-1743.

• Cancer Research UK (2017) *What is cancer?*. Available at <u>http://www.cancerresearchuk.org/about-cancer/what-is-cancer</u> (Accessed:29 June 2017).

• (BIG)Breast International Group (2017) Translational research. Available at <u>http://www.breastinternationalgroup.org/our-research/</u> (Accessed:7 July 2017).

• Carey, L. A., Rugo, H. S., Marcom, P. K., Mayer, E. L., Esteva, F. J., Ma, C. X., Liu, M. C., Storniolo, A. M., Rimawi, M. F., Forero-Torres, A., Wolff, A. C., Hobday, T. J., Ivanova, A., Chiu, W.-K., Ferraro, M., Burrows, E., Bernard, P. S., Hoadley, K. A., Perou, C. M. and Winer, E. P. (2012) 'TBCRC 001: Randomized Phase II Study of Cetuximab in Combination With Carboplatin in Stage IV Triple-Negative Breast Cancer', *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 30(21), pp. 2615– 2623. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2010.34.5579.

• Carter, P., Presta, L., Gorman, C. M., Ridgway, J. B., Henner, D., Wong, W. L., Rowland, A. M., Kotts, C., Carver, M. E. and Shepard, H. M. (1992) 'Humanization of an anti-p185HER2 antibody for human cancer therapy.', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 89(10), pp. 4285–9.

• Casewell, N.R., Wagstaff, S.C., Wüster, W., Cook, D.A., Bolton, F.M., King, S.I., Pla, D., Sanz, L., Calvete, J.J. and Harrison, R.A., (2014). Medically important differences in snake venom composition are dictated by distinct postgenomic mechanisms. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *111*(25), pp.9205-9210.

• Chakrabarty, D. and Chanda, C. (2015) 'Snake Venom disintegrins', in Gopalakrishnakone, P., Inagaki, H., Mukherjee, A.K., Rahmy, T.R., Vogel, C. (eds.) *Snake Venoms.* Springer Science DOI 10.1007/978-94-007-6648-8 14-1

• Chowdhury, R. and Ellis (2014) 'Handbook of therapeutic antibodies, Volume 1 (pp 2041-2068). Weinheim: Germany

• Connell, P. P. and Hellman, S. (2009) 'Advances in Radiotherapy and Implications for the Next Century: A Historical Perspective', *Cancer Research*, 69(2) pp 383-392. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-6871

• Costa, T.R., Burin, S.M., Menaldo, D.L., de Castro, F.A. and Sampaio, S.V., 2014. Snake venom L-amino acid oxidases: an overview on their antitumor effects. *Journal of Venomous Animals and Toxins including Tropical Diseases*, *20*(1), p.23.

• Creighton, C.J. (2012) 'The molecular profile of luminal B breast cancer' *Biologics*, 6, pp289-297. doi: 10.2147/BTT.S29923.

• Curigliano, G. and Criscitiello, C. (2014) 'Successes and Limitations of Targeted Cancer Therapy in Breast Cancer'. *Progress in Tumor Research*. 14. pp. 15–35. doi: 10.1159/000355896.

• Curtis, C., Shah, S. P., Chin, S.-F., Turashvili, G., Rueda, O. M., Dunning, M. J., Speed, D., Lynch, A. G., Samarajiwa, S., Yuan, Y., Gräf, S., Ha, G., Haffari, G., Bashashati, A., Russell, R., McKinney, S., METABRIC Group, Langerød, A., Green, A., Provenzano, E., Wishart, G., Pinder, S., Watson, P., Markowetz, F., Murphy, L., Ellis, I., Purushotham, A., Børresen-Dale, A.-L., Brenton, J. D., Tavaré, S., Caldas, C. and Aparicio, S. (2012) 'The genomic and transcriptomic architecture of 2,000 breast tumours reveals novel subgroups.', *Nature*, 486(7403), pp. 346– 52. doi: 10.1038/nature10983.
• Dall'Ora, M., 2015. Preclinical development of anti-cancer strategies against human HER-2 (Doctoral dissertation, alma).

• Deluche, E., Onesti, E. and Andre, F. (2015) 'Precision Medicine for Metastatic Breast Cancer', *American Society of Clinical Oncology Educational Book*. American Society of Clinical Oncology, 35, pp. 2e2–3e7. doi: 10.14694/EdBook_AM.2015.35.e2.

• Drebin, J. A., Link, V. C., Weinberg, R. A. and Greene, M. I. (1986) 'Inhibition of tumor growth by a monoclonal antibody reactive with an oncogene-encoded tumor antigen.', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 83(23), pp. 9129–33.

• Dimitrov, G., Baytchev, G., Inkov, I., and Dimitrov, D., (2017) 'The advancement and history of breast cancer surgical therapy at a glance', *International Journal of Surgery and Medicine*, 3(2) pp119-127.

• Eroles, P., Bosch, A., Alejandro Pérez-Fidalgo, J. and Lluch, A. (2012) 'Molecular biology in breast cancer: Intrinsic subtypes and signaling pathways' *Cancer treatment reviews*, 38(6) pp 698-707.

• Esteva, F. J. (2004) 'Monoclonal Antibodies, Small Molecules, and Vaccines in the Treatment of Breast Cancer', *The Oncologist*. 9(3), pp. 4–9. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.9-suppl_3-4.

• Fabian, C.J. (2007). 'The what, why and how of aromatase inhibitors hormonal agents for treatment and prevention of breast cancer', International journal of clinical practice. 61(12) pp2051-2063. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-1241.2007.01587.x

• Ferlay, J., Soerjomataram, I., Dikshit, R., Eser, S., Mathers, C., Rebelo, M., Parkin, D.M., Forman, D., Bray, F. (2014). Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. *International Journal of Cancer* doi:10.1002/ijc.29210

• Fisher, R., Pusztai, L., Swanton., C. (2013) Cancer heterogeneity: implications for targeted therapeutics. British Journal of Cancer. 108, pp479-485. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2012.581.

• Geyer, C.E., Forster, J., Lindquist, D., Chan, S., Romieu, C.G., Pienkowski, T., Jagiello-Gruszfeld, A., Crown, J., Chan, A., Kaufman, B., Skarlos, D., Campone, M., Davidson, N., Berger, M., Oliva, C., Rubin, S.D., Stein, S., Cameron, D., (2006) 'Lapatinib plus Capecitabine for HER2-Positive Advanced Breast Cancer' *N Engl J Med.* 2006; 355:2733-2743 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa064320

• Guerrero-Zotano, A., Mayer, I.A., Arteaga C.L. (2016) 'PI3K/AKT/mTOR: role in breast cancer progression, drug resistance, and treatment.' *Cancer Metastasis Rev.* 35(4), pp515-524.

Hanahan, D. and Weinberg, R.A. (2000) 'The Hallmarks of Cancer', Cell, 100(1), pp. 5770. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81683-9</u>

• Hanahan, D. and Weinberg, R.A. (2011) 'Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation', *Cell*, 144(5), pp.646-674. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013

• Harbeck, N., Beckmann, M. W., Rody, A., Schneeweiss, A., Müller, V., Fehm, T., Marschner, N., Gluz, O., Schrader, I., Heinrich, G., Untch, M. and Jackisch, C. (2013) 'HER2 Dimerization Inhibitor Pertuzumab - Mode of Action and Clinical Data in Breast Cancer', *Breast Care*. Karger Publishers, 8(1), pp. 49–55.

• Hajdu, S. I. (2010) 'A note from history: Landmarks in history of cancer, part 1', *Cancer*, 117(5), pp. 1097–1102.

• Hajdu, S. I. (2012) 'A note from history: Landmarks in history of cancer, part 4', *Cancer.*, 118(20), pp. 4914–4928.

• Herbst (2004) 'Review of epidermal growth factor receptor biology', *Int. J. Radiation Oncology Biol. Phys.* 59(2) pp21-26 doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2003.11.041.

• Hsu, S.-C., Miller, S. A., Wang, Y. and Hung, M.-C. (2009) 'Nuclear EGFR is required for cisplatin resistance and DNA repair', *Am J Transl Res*, 1(3), pp. 249–258.

• Hurvitz, S.A., Kalous, O., Conklin, D., Desai, A.J., Dering, J., Anderson, L., O'Brien, N.A., Kolarova, T., Finn. R,S., Linnartz. R., Chen, D., Slamon, D.J. (2015) In vitro activity of the mTOR inhibitor everolimus, in a large panel of breast cancer cell lines and analysis for predictors of response. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.*, 149(3), pp 669-680.

• Jhaveri, T.Z., Woo, J., Shang, X., Park, B.H., Gabrielson E. (2015) AMP-activated kinase (AMPK) regulates activity of HER2 and EGFR in breast cancer,' *Oncogene*, 6(17) pp 14754-14765.

• King, G. (2013) 'Venoms to Drugs: Translating venom peptides into therapeutics'. Australian Biochemist, 44(3) p1-8.

• Kovacs, E., Zorn, J. A., Huang, Y., Barros, T. and Kuriyan, J. (2015) 'A structural perspective on the regulation of the epidermal growth factor receptor.' *Annual review of biochemistry*, 84, pp. 739–64.

• Kumar, S., Sarkar, P., Jain, R. (2013) 'Venoms can be a Boon for cancer patients', *Forum* on Immunopathological diseases and therapeutics. 3(3-4) pp 255-273.

• Lage, H. and Lage, H. (2003) 'Drug resistance in breast cancer', *Cancer Therapy*, 1(1), pp. 81–91.Omenn, G. S., Guan, Y. and Menon, R. (2014) 'A new class of protein cancer biomarker candidates: differentially expressed splice variants of ERBB2 (HER2/neu) and ERBB1 (EGFR) in breast cancer cell lines.', *Journal of proteomics*. 107, pp. 103–12. doi: 10.1016/j.jprot.2014.04.012.

• Lakhtakia, R. and Chinoy, R. F. (2014) 'A Brief History of Breast Cancer: Part II -Evolution of surgical pathology.', *Sultan Qaboos University Medical Journal*, 14(3), pp. 319-22.

• Lephart, E.D. and Simpson, E.R. (1991) '(45) Assay of Aromatase activity.', *Methods in Enzymology*, 206, p477-483.

• Liu, G., Ren, S., Yan, Y. (2015) 'Comparisons of the Clinicopathological Characteristics and the Expression of Tumor Biomarkers among Luminal, HER2-Enriched and Triple Negative Breast Cancer', *General Medicine*, 3(3), pp. 184. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4172/2327-5146.1000184</u>

• Locker, G. (1998) 'Hormonal therapy of breast cancer', *Cancer Treat Rev.*, 24(3), pp 221-240.

• Lurje, G. and Lenz, H.J., (2009) 'EGFR Signaling and Drug Discovery', *Oncology*, 77, pp. 400–410.

• Masuda, H., Zhang, D., Bartholomeusz, C., Doihara, H., Hortobagyi, G. N. and Ueno, N. T. (2012) 'Role of epidermal growth factor receptor in breast cancer', *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*. 136(2), pp. 331–345. doi: 10.1007/s10549-012-2289-9.

• Matavel, A., Estrada, G., Almeida, F.D. (2015) 'Spider venom and drug discovery: A Review'. *Spider Venoms.*, pp1-14.

• Morrow, R.J., Etemadi, N., Yeo, B. and Ernst, M. (2017) 'Challenging a Misnomer? The Role of Inflammatory Pathways in Inflammatory breast cancer' *Mediators Inflamm.*, pp 4754827 doi: 10.1155/2017/4754827

• National Center for Biotechnology Information. PubChem Compound Database; CID=208908, https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/208908 (Accessed July 6, 2017).

• Nahta, R. and Esteva, F. J. (2003) 'HER-2-targeted therapy: lessons learned and future directions. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 9(14), pp. 5078–84. doi: 10.1038/nrd842.

• Normanno, N., De Luca, A., Bianco, C., Strizzi, L., Mancino, M., Maiello, M.R., Carotenuto, A., De Feo, G., Caponigro, F., Salomon, D.S. (2006) 'Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) signaling in cancer'. *Gene*. 366(1) pp2-16.

• Oakman, C., Viale, G. and Leo, A. Di (2010) 'Management of triple negative breast cancer'. pp. 1-10.doi: 10.1016/j.breast.2010.03.026.

• O'Brien, N.A., McDonald, K., Tong, L., Euw, E.V., Kalous, O., Conklin, D., Hurvitz, S.A., di Tomaso, E., Schnell, C., Linnartz, R., Finn, R.S., Hirawat, S., and Slamon, D.J. (2014) 'Targeting PI3K/mTOR Overcomes Resistance to HER2-Targeted Therapy Independent of Feedback Activation of AKT'. *Clinical Cancer Research*, doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-2769.

• Ohsumi, S., Shimozumai, K., Kuroi, K., Ono, M. and Imai, H. (2007) 'Quality of life of breast cancer patients and types of surgery for breast cancer — Current status and unresolved issues', *Breast Cancer*. 14(1), pp. 66–73.

• Opdam, F.L., Guchelaar, H., Beijnen, J.H., Schellens, J.H.M. (2012) 'Lapatinib for Advanced or Metastatic Breast Cancer', *The Oncologist*. 17, pp 536-542.

• Osipov, A.V., Terpinskaya, T.I., Kryukova, E.V., Ulaschik, V.S., Paulovets L.V., Petrova E.A., Blagun, E.V., Starkov, V.G. and Utkin Y.N. (2014) ' Nerve Growth Factor from Cobra Venom Inhibits the Growth of Ehrlich Tumor in Mice.' *Toxins*. 6, pp784-795.

• Perez, E. A., Rugo, H.S. and Vahdat, L.T. (2013) 'Clinical Roundtable Monograph New Developments in Metastatic Breast Cancer: Integrating Recent Data into Clinical Practice A CME Activity'. *Clinical Advances in Haemotology and Oncology* 11(10) pp 1-18.

Perou, C. M., Sørlie, T., Eisen, M. B., van de Rijn, M., Jeffrey, S. S., Rees, C. A., Pollack, J. R., Ross, D. T., Johnsen, H., Akslen, L. A., Fluge, Ø., Pergamenschikov, A., Williams, C., Zhu, S. X., Lønning, P. E., Børresen-Dale, A.-L., Brown, P. O. and Botstein, D. (2000) 'Molecular portraits of human breast tumours', *Nature*. 406(6797), pp. 747–752

• Prat, A. and Perou, C.M. (2011) Deconstructing the molecular portraits of breast cancer. *Molecular Oncology*. 5, pp.3-23.

• Pusztai, L., Mazouni, C., Anderson, K., Wu, Y. and Symmans, W. F. (2006) 'Molecular Classification of Breast Cancer: Limitations and Potential', *The Oncologist*. 11(8), pp. 868–877.

• Rana, P. and Sridhar, S. S. (2012) 'Efficacy and tolerability of lapatinib in the management of breast cancer.', *Breast cancer : basic and clinical research*. 6, pp. 67–77.

• Rashid, O. and Takabe, K. (2014) 'Does removal of the primary tumour in metastatic breast cancer improve survival?.' *Journal of Womens Health*. 23(2) pp 184-188 doi: 10.1089/jwh.2013.4517.

• Rusnak, D., Gilmer, T.M. (2011) 'The discovery of Lapatinib (GW572016)'. *Molecular cancer therapeutics*, 1, pp 85-94.

• Russnes, H.G., Navin, N., Hick, J., Borresen-Dale, A. (2011)' Insight into the heterogeneity of breast cancer through next-generation sequencing' *J. Clin. Invest.* 121(10). pp 3810–3818. doi:10.1172/JCI57088.

• Sannaningaiah, D., Subbaiah G.K., Kempaiah, K. 'Pharmacology of spider venom toxins'. *Toxin Reviews*, 33(4) pp 206-220.

• Shi, Y., Tao, Y., Jiang, Y., Xu, Y., Yan, B., Chen X., Xiao L. and Cao, Y. (2012) 'Nuclear epidermal growth factor receptor interacts with transcriptional intermediary factor 2 to activate cyclin D1 gene expression triggered by the oncoprotein latent membrane protein 1'. *Carcinogenesis*. 33(8) pp 1468-1478.

• Slamon, D. J., Leyland-Jones, B., Shak, S., Fuchs, H., Paton, V., Bajamonde, A., Fleming, T., Eiermann, W., Wolter, J., Pegram, M., Baselga, J. and Norton, L. (2001) 'Use of chemotherapy plus a monoclonal antibody against HER2 for metastatic breast cancer that overexpresses HER2.', *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 344(11), pp. 783–92.

• Sledge, G.W., Miller, K.D. Exploiting the hallmarks of cancer: the future conquest of breast cancer. *European Journal of Cancer*, 39, pp 1668-1675.

• Smith, I.E. and Dowsett, M. (2003) 'Aromatase inhibitors in breast cancer', *Drug therapy*. 348, pp 2431-2442.

Sørlie, T., Perou, C. M., Tibshirani, R., Aas, T., Geisler, S., Johnsen, H., Hastie, T., Eisen, M. B., van de Rijn, M., Jeffrey, S. S., Thorsen, T., Quist, H., Matese, J. C., Brown, P. O., Botstein, D., Lønning, P. E. and Børresen-Dale, A. L. (2001) 'Gene expression patterns of breast carcinomas distinguish tumor subclasses with clinical implications.', *PNAS*. 98(19), pp. 10869–74. doi: 10.1073/pnas.191367098.

• Saez, N.J., Senff, S., Jensen, J.E., Er, S.Y., Herzig, V., Rash, L.D., King, G.F. (2010) 'Spidervenom Peptides as Therapeutics'. *Toxins (Basel).* 2(12) pp2851-2871. doi: 10.3390/toxins2122851.

• Song, T., Cao, S., Tao, S., Liang, S., Du., W, Liang, Y. 'A Novel Unsupervised Algorithm for Biological Process-based Analysis on Cancer' *Sci Rep*. 7(1) pp4671 doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-04961-6.

• Stamos, J., Sliwkowski, M, Eigenbrot, C. (2002) 'Structure of the epidermal growth factor receptor kinase domain alone and in complex with a 4-anilinoquinazoline inhibitor.', *J. Biol. Chem.* 277(48) pp.46265-46272.

• Stein, R.A. and Staros, J.V. (2000) 'Evolutionary analysis of the ErbB receptor and ligand families' J. Mol. Evol., 50(5) pp397-412.

• Sudhakar, A. (2009) 'History of Cancer, Ancient and modern Treatment Methods.', *J. Cancer Sci Ther.*, 1(2) pp1-4 doi: 10.4172/1948-5956.100000e2.

• Sunagar, K., Casewell, N. R., Varma, S., Kolla, R., Antunes, A. and Moran, Y. (2014) 'Deadly Innovations: Unraveling the Molecular Evolution of Animal Venoms'. 1(27). doi: 10.1007/978-94-007-6649-5 27-1.

• Sunagar, K., Moran, Y. (2015) 'The Rise and Fall of an Evolutionary Innovation: Contrasting Strategies of Venom Evolution in Ancient and Young Animals', *PLOS Genetics*. 11(10), doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1005596.

• Suto, K., Yamazaki, Y., Morita, T., Mizuno, H. (2005) 'Crystal Structures of Novel Vascular Endothelial Growth Factors (VEGF) from Snake Venoms', *J. Biol. Chem.* 280(3) pp2126-2131.

• Swain, S. M., Kim, S.-B., Cortés, J., Ro, J., Semiglazov, V., Campone, M., Ciruelos, E., Ferrero, J.-M., Schneeweiss, A., Knott, A., Clark, E., Ross, G., Benyunes, M. C. and Baselga, J. (2013) 'Pertuzumab, trastuzumab, and docetaxel for HER2-positive metastatic breast cancer (CLEOPATRA study): overall survival results from a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 study.', *The Lancet. Oncology*. 14(6), pp. 461–71.

• Swain, S.M., Baselga, J., Kim, S.B., Ro, J., Semiglazov, V., Campone, M., Ciruelos, E., Ferrero, J.M., Schneeweiss, A., Heeson, S., Clark, E., Ross, G., Benyunes, M,C., Cortés J. and the CLEOPATRA Study Group. (2015). Pertuzumab, trastuzumab, and docetaxel in HER2-positive metastatic breast cancer. *N. Engl J. Med.* 372(8) pp 724-734 doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1413513.

• Swenson, S., Costa, F., Minea, R., Sherwin, R. P., Ernst, W., Fujii, G., Yang, D. and Markland, F. S. (2004) 'Intravenous liposomal delivery of the snake venom disintegrin contortrostatin limits breast cancer progression', *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 3(4).

• Tambourgi, D. V., Santos, M. C., Furtado, M. de F. D., Freitas, M. C. W., Silva, W. and Kipnis, T. L. (1994) 'Pro-inflammatory activities in elapid snake venoms', *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 112(3), pp. 723–727. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381.1994.tb13137.

• Tamimi, R.M., Colditz G.A., Hazra A., Baer H.J., Hankinson, S.E., Rosner, B., Marotti, J., Connolly, J.L., Schnitt, S.J. and Collins, L.C. (2012) 'Traditional Breast Cancer Risk Factors in Relation to Molecular Subtypes of Breast Cancer', *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 131(1) pp159-167. doi:10.1007/s10549-011-1702-0.

• Thangam, R., Gunasekaran, P., Kaveri, K., Sridevi, G., Sundarraj, S., Paulpandi, M. and Kannan, S. (2012) 'A novel disintegrin protein from *Naja naja* venom induces cytotoxicity and apoptosis in human cancer cell lines in vitro', *Process Biochemistry*, 47(8), pp. 1243–1249.

• Torre, L. A., Bray, F., Siegel, R. L., Ferlay, J., Lortet-Tieulent, J. and Jemal, A. (2015) 'Global cancer statistics, 2012', *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians*, 65(2), pp. 87–108.

• Trim, S.A. and Trim, C.M. (2013) 'Venom: the sharp end of pain therapeutics'. *Br J Pain*. 7(4), pp179-188.

• Ueno, N. T., and Zhang, D., (2011) 'Targeting EGFR in Triple Negative Breast Cancer.', Journal of Cancer. 2. pp. 324–8.

• Van Laere, S. J., Ueno, N. T., Finetti, P., Vermeulen, P., Lucci, A., Robertson, F. M., Marsan, M., Iwamoto, T., Krishnamurthy, S., Masuda, H., van Dam, P., Woodward, W. A., Viens, P., Cristofanilli, M., Birnbaum, D., Dirix, L., Reuben, J. M. and Bertucci, F. (2013) 'Uncovering the molecular secrets of inflammatory breast cancer biology: an integrated analysis of three distinct affymetrix gene expression datasets.', *Clinical cancer research*, 19(17), pp 4685–4696.

• Vassilevski, A.A., Kozlov, S.A., Grishin, S.A. (2009) 'Molecular Diversity of Spider venom'. *Biochemistry (Moscow).* 74(13), pp 1505-1534.

• Vyas, V., Brahmbhatt, K., Bhatt, H., Parmar, U. (2013) 'Therapeutic potential of snake venom in cancer therapy: current perspectives', *Asian Pacific journal of tropical biomedicine*. 3(2) pp156-162.

• Ward, A., Shukla, K., Balwierz, Soons Z., KÖnig, R., Sahin, Ö., Wiemann, S. (2014) 'MicroRNA-519a is a novel oncomir conferring tamoxifen resistance by targeting a network of tumour-suppressor genes in ER+ breast cancer.', *The Journal of Pathology*. 233(4) pp368-379. doi: 10.1002/path.4363.

• World Health Organisation (2017) *Cancer fact sheet.* Available at <u>http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs297/en/</u> (Accessed: 29 June 2017).

• Yarden, Y. and Pines, G. (2012) 'The ERBB network: at last, cancer therapy meets systems biology', *Nature Reviews Cancer*. 12(8), pp. 553–563. doi: 10.1038/nrc3309.

• Zambelli, V. O., Pasqualoto, K. F. M., Picolo, G., Chudzinski-Tavassi, A. M. and Cury, Y. (2016) 'Harnessing the knowledge of animal toxins to generate drugs', *Pharmacological Research*, 112, pp. 30–36. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2016.01.009.

• Zardavas, D., Irrthum, A., Swanton, C. and Piccart, M. (2015) 'Clinical management of breast cancer heterogeneity.', *Nature reviews. Clinical oncology*, 12(7), pp. 381–94.

• Zardavas, D., Maetens, M., Irrthum, A., Goulioti, T., Engelen, K., Fumagalli, D., Salgado, R., Aftimos, P., Saini, K. S., Sotiriou, C., Campbell, P., Dinh, P., von Minckwitz, G., Gelber, R. D., Dowsett, M., Di Leo, A., Cameron, D., Baselga, J., Gnant, M., Goldhirsch, A., Norton, L. and Piccart, M. (2014) 'The AURORA initiative for metastatic breast cancer', *British Journal of Cancer*. 111(10), pp. 1881–1887. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2014.341.

• Zaytseva, Y.Y., Valentino, J.D., Gulhati, P., Evers, B.M. (2012) 'mTOR inhibitors in cancer therapy', *Cancer Letters*. 319, pp1-7.

• Zhang, H., Berezov, A., Wang, Q., Zhang, G., Drebin, J., Murali, R. and Greene, M. I. (2007) 'ErbB receptors: from oncogenes to targeted cancer therapies.', *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 117(8), pp. 2051–8. doi: 10.1172/JCI32278.

Investigating the effects of venoms on the Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor and receptor tyrosine kinases as a potential breast cancer therapy

2.1 Background

Evolution has ensured the peptides and proteins present in venomous secretions are fine-tuned and appropriate for the environment the species are present in (Murao et al, 2013). All the proteins and other components present in spider venoms are the result of roughly 400 million years of evolutionary strategies (Sunagar et al, 2015). These traits make venoms an ample collection of high affinity compounds which can potentially be used in drug development research.

Venom derived drugs are present in the current medicinal landscape, with six FDA approved drugs and ten more in clinical trials (King, 2013). Early scientific investigations regarding venomous compounds were focused only on species with potentially fatal secretions (Escoubas et al, 2006), but in 1980's new research showed the variety of pharmacological proteins within the venom of the same species (Adams, 2004). Venoms have been since then studied, mainly as an ion channel and receptor ligands source (Escoubas et al, 2006). Peptide based treatments found a niche in drug development (Craik et al, 2012) following the need to overcome side effects and resistance occurring in cancer treatments based on traditional or targeted therapies (Thangam et al, 2012). Their high specificity and high affinity shown in *in vivo* investigations lead to not only highly potent effects but also to fewer side effects (Craik, 2013). With over 10 million predicted bioactive molecules, spider venoms are a wealthy collection of potential drug discovery candidates (Saez et al, 2010). The

making them the stable and complex weapons currently employed against both prey and predators (Garrison et al, 2016). A fundamental component of spider venom is the disulphide rich peptides and an estimated 0.1% of these peptides have been studied so far (Klint et al, 2012).

Following the long line of general limitations encountered in existing anti-cancer therapies such as side effects and resistance, looking at other potential treatments and naturally occurring small amino-acid chains protein could provide a scaffold for future treatments (Almeida and Stankiewicz, 2016).

Breast cancer is defined as a heterogeneous disease, comprising of multiple molecular entities, with distinctive features (Carey et al, 2012; Koboldt et al, 2012). Some members of the Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor family of tyrosine kinases have been identified as key regulators of cell growth, transformation and other cellular processes in some breast cancer subtypes, including triple negative breast cancer (Jacot et al, 2015). Two of the four members of the EGFR family – EGFR and HER-2- have been considered as relevant and attractive clinical targets in breast cancer drug discovery (Kele et al, 2012). Moreover, the presence of EGFR is considered a marker of triple negative breast cancer subtype (Masuda et al, 2012) which lacks both hormone receptors (Progesterone and oestrogen) and HER-2 (Straehle et al, 2012; Jacot et al, 2015; Oakman et al, 2010). Existing anti-EGFR and HER-2 therapies include monoclonal antibodies such as Trastuzumab, which target the extracellular domain of HER-2, or small molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitors such as Lapatinib which targets the intracellular ATP binding site of both HER-2 and EGFR (Zhang et al, 2007; Rusnak and Gilmer, 2011). As mentioned above, these treatments present their own limitations. For instance, Trastuzumab does not properly infiltrate solid tumours and the cost associated with manufacturing the recombinant protein are known to be high (Zhang et al, 2007). In the case of the small

molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitor Lapatinib, limitations occur in regards to dose and toxicity as reported by an investigation focused on the combination of mTOR inhibitor Everolimus and Lapatinib in metastatic breast cancer (Rana and Sridhar, 2012).

Some studies have utilised snake and scorpion venom to investigate their effect on breast cancer cell lines (Sikkema et al, 2009; Swenson et al, 2004; D'Suze et al, 2010). The diverse range of venoms produced in nature means that there is a wide array of peptides and chemical compounds that can be screened for potential new breast cancer drugs. The need to investigate as many types of venom is as relevant as ever, given a sparse venom peptides library and the number of species and types of venom available. Most of the efforts to produce treatment drugs from venoms are focused on producing treatments for the cardiovascular system (King, 2013) or treatments that target acid sensing ion channels (Zambelli et al, 2016).

2.2 Venom-based drugs and peptides

Venom systems are present in a diverse range of animals. There are three clades with medically important venom compositions: snake, spider and scorpion (Fry et al, 2009). Any active peptides within these venoms target all main biological pathways and tissue types accessible by bloodstream (Fry et al, 2009). Of the three species of interest, snakes are widespread and one of the most often encountered species by humans. Their lethal venom is believed to have acted on primate brain and sensory functions (Casewell et al, 2013). Snake venom is mainly composed of disintegrins, hemotoxic and cytotoxic small peptides and has been shown to degrade tumor tissue (Sarfu-Poku, 2015). On the other hand, arthropods are found in most ecosystems on Earth, a flexible trait present in their venom composition as well (Almeida and Stanckiewicz, 2016). The most common compounds found in spider venoms are low molecular mass toxins, amino acids, neurotransmitters, disulphide rich peptides, enzymes and small non-disulphide bonded peptides. (Almeida and Stanckiewicz, 2016). Scorpion venom has made possible the research of potassium voltage-gated ions, due to compounds such as polypeptide channel blockers (Kuzmenkov, 2015) and was also found to disrupt pancreatic and blood cancers (Al-Asmari, 2017).

One of the first venom-based drugs was Captopril, marketed under the name Capoten (Smith and Vane, 2003). The discovery came about after an extract of the venom of *Bothrops jararaca* called bradykinin potentiating factor was tested on angiotensin converting enzyme, an important regulator of blood pressure (Smith and Vane, 2003). Capoten received FDA approval in 1980 and became the first venom-based drug, developed to treat hypertension (Smith and Vane, 2003). In 1998, two non-enzymatic compounds eptifibatide and tirofiban were introduced on the market (Harvey, 2014). Both compounds were identified and discovered due to research carried out on venomous snake species *Sistrurus miliarius barbouri* and *Echis carinatus*, respectively (Harvey, 2014). Both compounds are used in treating heart disorders (Harvey, 2014).

Thangam et al (2012) report the identification of a disintegrin protein from the venom of *N Naja*, with pro-apoptotic effects on MCF-7 breast cancer cells line. MCF-7 breast cancer cell line is an oestrogen-dependent cell line, as opposed to MDA-MB-468 which is oestrogen independent (Cos et al, 1998).

2.3 Rationale for use of the venoms in this study

Acanthoscurria geniculata is a theraphosid species, part of the monophyletic group Mygalomorphae. There is literature available detailing the use of *Acanthoscurria gomensiana* as an anti-tumour agent (Soletti et al, 2010). Gomensin (one of the active components of

Acanthoscurria gomensiana venom) has been found to affect the MAPK/ERK signalling pathway. Protein kinase C and PI3K signalling pathway are also shown to have an involvement and consequent tumour cell apoptosis has been detailed (Soletti et al, 2010; Kumar et al, 2010; Heinen & da Veiga, 2011). However, there is little information on the composition of *Acanthoscurria geniculata* venom and the present investigation will contribute to increasing current knowledge on venom effects.

Naja atra (formerly *Naja naja atra*) venom was previously studied due to the apoptosis inducing effects Cardiotoxin III (an active *Naja atra* venom component) exhibited on JAK2/PI3K signalling pathway. (Lin et al, 2010; Das et al, 2011). *Naja naja* venom was chosen as there are investigations detailing the cytotoxic and apoptosis inducing effects of *Naja naja* venom (Das Gupta et al, 2011; Thangam et al, 2012).

Heterometrus Swammerdami venom was chosen due to several accounts of Bengalin, an active component of *Heterometrus bengalensis* venom, being an effective apoptogenic protein that acts via ERK-MAPK pathways (Das Gupta et al, 2007; Das Gupta et al, 2010; Das Gupta et al, 2013).

The aim of this research is twofold: first to analyse and describe the types of venoms used in this research in order to expand knowledge on the subject and second to identify any potential clinically active compounds following treatment of the breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-468 cells with the three types of venom from three different species - Spider, Snake and Scorpion - and to investigate fractions of this venom.

2.4 Methods

For this study human breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-468 were used. These originated from pleural effusion and are known to be oestrogen-independent cells, usually expressing

more than 10⁶ EGF receptors per cell (Modjtahedi et al, 1993, Zhang et al, 1991). Basal MDA-MB-468 cell line forms grape-like structures when grown *in vitro* (Holliday et al, 2011).

2.4.1 A gen., H swa and N Naja venom extraction

Venoms for these experiments were supplied by Venomtech Ltd. Venom extractions were carried out at Venomtech Ltd., in a laminar flow hood, under the supervision of trained specialists, according to their proprietary methods. Venoms were collected using Venomtech's optimised procedures to maintain maximum venom quality in safe and controlled conditions. Snakes are 'milked' using the voluntary bite protocol. Invertebrates are milked under anaesthesia with electrical stimulation. Following the extraction, the venom was either freeze dried or frozen until needed at -20°C. Venom concentration was measured using a DS11 spectrophotometer (DENovix, US). Studies with these experiments have not been carried out before therefore the concentrations to use in each step had to be optimised before the experiments were undertaken.

2.4.2 Mammalian cell culture

The human breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-468, was originally obtained from ATCC. Cells were cultured in 25cm³ culture flasks (Sarstedt, Inc, Newton, USA) and were cultivated in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (Gibco, UK). L-Glutamine (1%), penicillin-streptomycin (1%) and Foetal Calf Serum (10%) (all from Invitrogen, Paisley UK) were added to the media. Cells were incubated at 37 °C and 5% CO₂. To sub-culture the cells when needed, the cells were washed twice with sterile Phosphate Buffered Saline pH 7.4 and then incubated in Trypsin-EDTA (0.05% trypsin, 0.53 mM sodium EDTA, Invitrogen, Paisley) for 10 minutes. The trypsin-EDTA was removed and replaced with 0.2 mL of the same reagent until the cells had detached from the flask. The cells were re-suspended in a total of 5 mL of media after being re-aliquoted as required by the experiment carried out. For instance, frozen cell stocks would be prepared similarly, but the final trypsin stage would only require 0.1mL of trypsin. The cells were re-suspended in 1 mL Dimethyl Sulfoxide 10% (Sigma, Poole, UK) and Foetal Calf Serum 90%. The mix was then pipetted in a cryotube, left at -20 C overnight and then moved to a -80°C freezer for long term storage. For indefinite storage, the cryotubes were stored in liquid nitrogen.

2.4.3 Bradford assay

For each of the samples obtained, a Bradford assay was carried out to measure protein concentration and thus ensure each sample has the same protein concentration when analysed via gel electrophoresis. The protocol was carried out in 96 well plates, with Bovine Serum Albumin (Sigma, UK) as a control, used at 100µg/ml working dilution. Further serial dilutions were obtained from the working dilutions, which are outlined in table below. The 96 well plates were analysed using a BMG Labtech (UK) plate reader. However, samples obtained after the treatment with fractions of venom were analysed using a DS 11 spectrophotometer to ensure accurate measurements.

2.4.4 Venom treatment and sample preparation

Venom treatments were carried out using the following protocol. MDA-MB-468 cells were trypsinised and plated out in 12 well plates. Cells were grown to at least 70% confluency before any treatment was carried out. Venom serial dilutions from 1:10- 1:100000 were prepared on the day of the experiment, prior to incubation and were prepared in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Media (Gibco, UK). Cells were incubated with venom for 2h at 37°C. After 2h,

the venom was removed and media containing a final concentration of 1x10⁻⁷M EGF (Sigma, UK) was added to all wells, except for the negative control well. After the 5 min. EGF incubation, all the media was removed and the cells were washed with a final concentration of 2mM EGTA in PBS pH 7.4 (Sigma, UK). Radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) buffer was prepared and kept on ice, by mixing 1000µl of the buffer, with 10µl each of the protease inhibitor cocktail (100x) and phosphatase inhibitor cocktail (100x) and EDTA (100x) (Thermo Scientific, UK). The amount of total RIPA buffer was adjusted to make up to 150µl of buffer per well. For the venom lysate samples used in the human phospho-array experiment, full flasks of MDA-MB-468 cell line were lysed, using the same reagents, but different amounts i.e. 500µl RIPA buffer, and 5µl of the protease and phosphatase inhibitors and EDTA per flask, After all the wells were added the 150µl of lysis buffer or the flasks were added 500µl lysis buffer, the plates or flasks were kept on ice for approx. 5 minutes and checked for total lysis i.e. until the consistency has visibly changed. The contents of each well were transferred into individual 2mL tubes, appropriately labelled and spun at 4 °C for 10 minutes or at least until a pellet became visible. The supernatant was transferred into a fresh tube and the appropriate amount of 5x sample buffer was added to make up a final concentration of 1x sample buffer. Where the sample required spectrophotometry analysis to determine protein concentration, a small amount of the supernatant was transferred into another tube and stored at -80 °C. Positive and negative controls were used throughout the experiment, with positive control meaning samples were not treated with venom but treated with EGF, and negative control meaning samples were treated with neither venom nor EGF.

Venom samples obtained following fractionation protocol were freeze-dried. The fractions were re-suspended in 12 μ l RNAse and DNAse free water (Thermo Scientific) and 2

 μ l was used to carry out spectrophotometry measurements. The 10 μ l left were further diluted to 1 in 100, using Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Media (Gibco, UK).

2.4.5 Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis

7% and 9% bis-acrylamide (30%, Bio-Rad, UK add info from D) gels were used for these experiments, made up following the standard protocol and using Tris HCl 1.5M (Fisher Scientific, UK), SDS 10%, distilled H₂O, N,N,N,Y'-Tetra-methyl-ethylenediamine (TEMED, Bio-Rad, UK) and APS 10% (Ammonium persulfate, Fisher Scientific, UK). The gels were set for 45min to 1 hr in 0.75mm glass plates.

A Bio-Rad Mini PROTEAN Tetra Cell (Hemel Hempstead, U.K.) was utilised to run 1D SDS-PAGE gels. The glass plates for pouring gels were cleaned with ethanol and assembled as per supplier instructions.

The sample amount was chosen carefully, by using the protein concentration in each sample, identifying the lowest concentration, allocating the lowest concentration the standard amount to analyse through SDS-PAGE i.e. 15µl, dividing the lowest protein concentration by each protein concentration and multiplying by the amount allocated to the lowest protein concentration to be analysed through SDS-Page. For experiments with very limited amounts of sample, i.e. venom fraction analysis, protein concentration was determined using a DS11 spectrophotometer. Alternatively, a 96 well plate Bradford assay was used. After loading, the samples were run at 70V until the molecular weight ladder started to separate. The voltage was set to 170 until the dye front reached the bottom of the gel.

Stacking gels were made at a 3.75% concentration. The stacking gel (3.75% Acrylamide/Bis solution 29:1, 0.1M Tris/HCL pH 6.8, 0.1% SDS, 0.1% APS, 15 μl TEMED) was

poured and allowed to set with either a 0.75mm or 1.5mm thick comb with 5mm width wells inserted.

Gel tanks were filled with 1x running buffer (0.025M Tris, 0.192M glycine, 0.1% SDS, pH8.3) (Bio-Rad, Hemel Hempstead, U.K.). The acrylamide gels analysed for the Coomasie stain step have been incubated in Coomasie blue stain (Bio-Rad, UK) for an hour and destained in 10% acetic acid and 10% methanol overnight.

2.4.6 Immunoblotting

The gels were placed between three 3mm Whatman filter paper (Maidstone, UK) sheets on top and bottom, with a nitrocellulose (Amersham Biosciences, Little Chalfont UK) or PVDF membrane (Immobulin, UK) between the gel and the bottom three filter paper sheets. The PVDF membrane was first activated by immersion in 100% methanol (Fisher, UK). The filter paper and nitrocellulose/PVDF membranes were immersed in semi-dry blotting buffer prior to setting on the three-filter paper stack. Two instruments were used to undertake the protein transfer step: an Invitrogen semi-dry western blotter or a Bio-Rad transblotter. Protein transfer conditions for Invitrogen semi-dry blotter were: 45-60 minutes at 10-15V. The Bio-rad transblotter settings were 30 min at 25V, 1A. The nitrocellulose was stained before being with Ponceau S solution (0.1% w/v in 5% acetic acid) to ensure appropriate protein transfer. Once the protein transfer was confirmed, the membranes were incubated for 1 hour in blocking buffer containing PBS Tween 20 0.1% (Fisher BioReagents, UK) and 5% Marvel milk powder. Following the blocking step, the membranes were washed 5 times for 5 minutes in PBS Tween 20 at 0.1%. The membranes were cut in half, with the top half of one blot incubated overnight in PY20 (1/2000) and the top half of an identical blot with F4 (1/1000) primary antibody, and bottom half incubated in anti- β actin (1/20000) primary

antibody. The latter was used as a control to ensure protein load concentration is equal. Monitoring phosphorylation levels in each sample analysed via SDS-PAGE and Western blot was done using anti-phosphotyrosine monoclonal antibody PY20 (Sigma, UK). In this experiment, the PY20 antibody was used at a concentration of 0.0005mg/mL. Actin monoclonal antibody was used to determine visually if the protein concentrations in each sample were equal. For β -actin antibody, 1µl of the stock (0.2mg/mL) was diluted in 20mL. The use of this isoform of actin as a loading control is due to its ubiquity. It is a housekeeping protein, meaning it is present in all cells under normal patho-physiological conditions. Following the overnight incubation in primary antibody, the blots were washed 5 times for 5 minutes in PBS in 0.1% Tween 20. After the washing step, the blots were incubated for 1h in rabbit anti mouse secondary antibody (1:20000). Enhanced chemiluminescence reagents were used to image the blots after the following protocol: solution A: 10 ml 1M Tris pH 8.5, 90 mM p-coumaric acid (Sigma, UK), 250Mm Luminol (Sigma, UK), dH₂0 up to 100mL and solution B: 10 mL 1M Tris pH 8.5, 64 µl 30% H₂O₂ (Sigma, UK), dH₂O up to 100 mL. Both solutions are mixed in equal amounts before use on blots in the Chemidoc Touch Imaging System.

Table 1: Primary and secondary antibodies used in this study				
Primary Antibody	Host and Class	Target	Dilution used at	
PY20 (Sigma, Poole UK)	Mouse Monoclonal	Phosphotyrosine	1/2000	
F4 (Gullick et al., 1986)	Mouse Monoclonal	EGFR	1/1000	
CB11 (Abcam, Cambridge UK)	Mouse Monoclonal	HER2	1/1000	
21N (Gusterson et al., 1987)	Rabbit Polyclonal	HER2	1/200	
RTJ-2 (Hunt et al., 1995)	Mouse Monoclonal	HER3	1/500	
HFR-1 (Srinivasan et al., 1999)	Mouse Monoclonal	HER4	1/300	
Anti-β-actin antibody (sigma)	Mouse Monoclonal	β-actin	1/20,000	
Anti-α-Tubulin antibody	Mouse Monoclonal	α-tubulin	1/5,000	
(DM1A clone) (Sigma, Poole UK)				
Secondary antibody	Host and class		Dilution Used at	
Rabbit antimouse Radish	Rabbit Monoclonal		1/20,000	
Peroxidase (HRP-Tagged)				

2.4.7 Kinome analysis - Phospho-array human receptor tyrosine kinases kit

The proteome profiler antibody array is procedure that enables the measurement of the level of protein phosphorylation in a cell lysate sample. It is different to a normal immunoblot as it allows the simultaneous of several RTK's. The kit has a range of specially formulated buffers and three nitrocellulose membranes coated with 49 specific kinase antibodies. It requires the pre-treatment of the cell lysate with protease inhibitors. The reagents were left to reach room temperature before using. The nitrocellulose membranes were incubated for one hour at room temperature in array buffer 1, which acted as a blocking buffer. Cell lysates were diluted to the appropriate concentration -300mg/µl- using array

buffer 1. The blocking buffer added initially was aspirated and the cell lysates were added to the membranes. As per the instructions, the cell lysates were incubated with the membranes overnight at 2-8 C°. This step requires the membranes to be completely submerged in cell lysate solution. The following day, the membranes were washed in 1x washing buffer three times. The membranes were incubated in 2 mL horse radish peroxidase detection antibody for two hours at room temperature. Membranes were washed again following this step. The exception from the instructions as per handout is the use of the maximum protein concentration 300mg/µl for the overnight incubation step. The next day, for the last two hours of the incubation step, the remainder of the venom lysate sample was added to the blots, to ensure maximum coverage and ensure maximum protein concentration is available. The results were analysed using ImageLab software, Bio-Rad.

2.4.8 Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Family phosphorylation profile

In order to assess how the venoms affect the expression of the rest of the members of the Epidermal Growth Factor Receptors, an assay was conducted on three cell lines that are known for expressing HER-2, HER-3 and HER-4 using *A gen., H swa and N Naja* venoms. The cell lines selected were HEK293, which is known to overexpress HER-3, SKBR3, which is known to overexpress HER-2 and NIH3T3, which is known to overexpress HER-4. In order to probe for the different receptors, the following antibodies were used: RTJ2 for HER-3 receptor overexpressing cell line, CB11 for HER-2 receptor overexpressing cell line and HFR1 for HER-4 receptor overexpressing cell line. Cell lines were grown and subcultured in 6 well plates as per the same protocol for MDA-MB-468 cell line, incubated in venom for 2 hours and lysed as per the instructions in Venom treatment and sample preparation section above. SDS-PAGE analysis was carried out via the instructions in the sections above, using 9% acrylamide gels.

2.4.9 Venom fractionation

A. geniculata venom was fractionated using a two dimensional method. The first dimension was ion exchange and the second dimension was reverse phase chromatography. Crude venom protein concentration was measured using the DS-11 microspectrophotometer (Dynovix, US) and 20 mg of protein is diluted to 100ul in reverse phase buffer A (0.05% trifluoroacetic acid [TFA]), centrifuged in a bench top microcentrifuge (Scientific Lab Supplies) and injected on to a C18 column with 5um bead size 250mm x 4.6mm column (Vydac). Reverse phase HPLC was then performed with a gradient against 80% acetonitrile in 0.045% TFA with a gradient from 5-100% (See Table 1). Peaks were detected by slope and threshold changes of absorbance at A280nm by the automated fraction collector. HPLC was performed on the Agilent technologies 1100 HPLC system.

Table 2: Reverse phase HPLC gradient against 80% acetonitrile in 0.04% TFA buffer (%B)				
Time (Minutes)	%B			
0	5			
10	5			
20	20			
100	60			
120	100			
130	100			
131	5			
140	5			

2.4.10 Freeze drying venom

Fractions were frozen at -50°C in the Virtis Advantage Freeze Drier (Biopharma Process Systems, UK) and Vacuum set point of 500 μ bar. After 24hrs temperature was gradually warmed at 10 °C intervals until final drying at 0 °C.

2.4.11 ImageLab analysis

All the western blot images for these experiments were obtained using a Bio-Rad chemidoc imaging system (Bio-Rad, UK) and chemiluminescence detection. Analysis made on Human Phospho-array kit western blot was undertaken also using the ImageLab software. The images were cropped using the Image Tools tab, bands and lanes have been appropriately labelled on images using the Lane and Bands tab. The Lane Profile setting will allow visualization of the bands and any adjusting to be done before reporting results via the Report setting. All the intensity readings were input in an excel file and organised using Insert tab and Chart Tool.

2.5 Results

2.5.1 Evaluation of optimal venom dose to use in Human Phospho-array experiment using Western blotting

In order to establish the effects the *A gen., H swa and N naja* venom had on more than one receptor tyrosine kinase and to be able to get simultaneous data on all of them, a proteome profiler human phosphor-RTK array kit (R&D Systems UK) was used. However first the optimal dose to use in the kinome blot had to be determined. Concentrations were chosen for the kinome blot by looking at the highest concentration of venom used that did not affect the expression of the control actin. Results revealed the threshold venom concentrations to be as detailed below. All the types of venom were used at the same dilutions from 1 in 10 to 1 in 1000000 and the wells were labelled from A to F, respectively.

Although not obvious from the Coomassie stained acrylamide gels (*Fig. 1a*) the Western Blot analysis revealed the protein levels in the 1:100 treatment were much higher than protein levels in the 1:10 treatment and the actin levels were not affected. The affect at 1:10 is possibly the result of potential cytotoxic effects occurring when using *A gen.* venom on MDA-MB-468 human breast cancer cells at a concentration of 3.772 mg/ml. The dilution was



Fig. 1a A &B are a polyacrylamide gel of *A gen.* cell lysates. The six wells loaded contain 5 different dilutions of the venom as follows: 1 - molecular weight marker, 2 - 1/10, 3 - 1/100, 4 - 1/1000, 5 - 1/10000, 6 - 1/100000. Lane number 7 is empty. After the empty lane, the next well was loaded with a positive control and the last lane contains the negative control.

The first blot below the gel images 1 - is the PY20 antibody treated blot. The last image 2 - is the actin antibody treated blot. These correspond with the polyacrylamide gels above.

chosen following the immunoblotting of the anti- β actin primary antibody treated membrane (bottom of *Fig. 1a*). Therefore, the relevant dilution for *Accanthoscurria geniculata* theraphosidae venom was determined to be 1 in 100, with a concentration of 0.3772mg/ml as the highest concentration showed an increase in EGFR phosphorylation in comparison to the rest of the dilutions.

Samples treated with *Naja Naja*, formerly known as *Naja Naja Atra*, have also been analysed using coomassie stained gels and Western Blots. Results revealed the protein levels in first three samples, meaning dilutions 1 in 10, 1 in 100 and 1 in 1000, were too low to be detected via standard methods (*Fig. 1b*). The working dilution was determined to be 1 in 10000, with a protein concentration of 0.003206 mg/ml. The venom concentrations in the first three samples was also affecting the levels of actin since the protein levels are also too low to be detected in the first three lanes of the actin antibody treated blot 2 in *Fig. 1a*.



Fig 1b shows the polyacrylamide gel run with Naja naja cell lysate. Six different dilution have been used for this venom as follows: first well – molecular weight marker, second well – 1/10, third well – 1/100, fourth well – 1/1000, fifth well – 1/10000, sixth well – 1/100000, seventh well – 1/1000000. One well was left empty on purpose. The next lane was loaded with positive control and the last lane with negative control.

The two images below are western blots of the acrylamide gel above.

Heterometrus Swammerdami venom treatment results are shown in *Fig. 1c.* In comparison with the positive control, which was a sample of MDA-MB-468 cells treated with EGF and no venom, *H swa* venom treated samples showed no visible difference in the protein levels when analysed through coomasie stained gels, moreover, preliminary analysis using immune-detection methods showed an increase in phosphorylation levels when compared to the positive control. As a result, the working dilution for H swa venom was determined to be 1 in 10, with a protein concentration of 4.012 mg/ml.



Fib 1c shows the acrylamide gel run with H swa cell lysates. Six dilutions, from 1/10 to 1/1000000 have been loaded from left to right. The first well was loaded with molecular weight marker and one well was left intentionally blank between the dilution lanes the control sample lanes. The next lane after the gap was loaded with positive control and the next lane was loaded with negative control.

The two images below are western blots of the polyacrylamide gel above.

2.5.2 Human Phospho-array analysis to determine venom effect on 49 receptor kinases

Fig. 2 below contains the human phosphor-array blots. Only the blots labelled were analysed in this study as the other blots were the work of another student. Each pair of dots on each blot represents a human tyrosine kinase receptor. An intense signal is the result of high levels of phosphorylation of the respective receptor, in response to venom treatment. Equally, less intense signals are represented by receptors with low levels of phosphorylation as a consequence of the blots being treated with the venom.



Fig. 2 Human Phospho-array immunoblots. The samples used in the current investigation have been labelled accordingly on the side of the image with the venom used to treat the immunoblots. The spots on each immunoblot are capture and control antibodies to which specific receptor tyrosine kinases bind during the incubation step. Treatment with conjugated horseradish peroxidase HRP was used to detect the signal (pixel density of each spot) by chemiluminescence. Spots boxed in red are reference spots to show the blot is working. Spots boxed in blue are EGFR.

The proteome profiler nitrocellulose membranes were spotted with 49 different specific RTK antibodies in duplicate. The signal (pixel density) data was produced using ImageLab software, analysing each set of duplicate spots.

Following the analysis with ImageLab, the human phosphor-array data was organised in graph form to aid in explaining the interactions between venoms and receptors.



Fig. 3 Phosphorylation levels of FGF receptor family in response to venom

Fig. 3 above represents the information obtained from analysing the effects of the three types of venom analysed on the Fibroblast Growth Factor receptor family. The intensity of each pair of dots on each of the five blots included in this investigation has been organised in the form of graphs. Positive control blots which have been treated with EGF but not venom were also prepared to compare with the venom treated samples. EGF will bind to EGFR and the antibody will detect the phosphorylation levels, which in turn is an indication that the experiment has worked. In this experiment, the levels of phosphorylation in the positive sample can also be used as comparison in relationship with the levels of phosphorylation in the rest of the samples.

Negative control samples have not been treated with either EGF or venom. This control will allow to identify any non-specific binding of the antibody.

Fig. 3 compares the three venoms and the two control samples (x axis) to signal (y axis) exhibited by each pair of dots on the human phosphor-array blots (*Fig. 3*). By comparing the phosphorylation levels in the three venom treated samples to the positive control, all three venoms have inhibitory effects on FGF receptors at the concentrations used.



Fig. 4 Phosphorylation levels of EGF receptor family in response to venom treatments

Fig. 4 above represents the levels of phosphorylation in the EGFR family of receptors (excluding EGFR) following treatment with the three types of venom. When compared to the positive control the levels of phosphorylation in ErbB2/HER-2 are decreasing following treatment with all three venoms. In comparison with the positive control, ErbB3/HER-3 receptor shows an increase in phosphorylation levels across all three types of venoms. In the case of ErbB4/HER-4, *N naja* and *A gen.* venoms are inhibiting phosphorylation since the

intensity values of *A gen.* and *N naja* venoms are below the positive control intensity readings, whilst treatment with *H swa* increased the levels of ErbB4.



Fig. 5 Phosphorylation levels of PDGF receptor family in response to venom treatments

Fig. 5, the phosphorylation levels of Platelet-Derived Growth Factor receptors in response to venom treatment are presented in graph forms. In comparison to the positive control intensity readings, all three types of venoms are inhibiting Flt-3 receptor and PDGF R Beta. The levels of phosphorylation in M-CSF receptor are inhibited by *N naja* venom but not by *A. gen* and *H. Swa*. SCF-R and PDGF R alpha phosphorylation is inhibited by *N.naja* but not *A.gen* and *H.Swa*.



Fig. 6 Phosphorylation levels of VEGF receptor family in response to venom treatments

Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor plays a significant role in angiogenesis, the creation of new blood vessels in solid tumours. Figure 6 above shows how treatment with *H swa* venom increases the phosphorylation levels in all three VEGF receptors. VEGF R2 phosphorylation levels are increased following treatment with *H swa* and *A gen.* venoms.

2.5.3 Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Family profile

The samples obtained for use on the human RTK profiler immunoblots were run on acrylamide gels together with three more cell lysate samples obtained from cell lines overexpressing the rest of the Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor family. The cell lines used for this experiment were SKBR3, HEK293 and NIH3T3, which overexpress HER-2, HER-3 and HER-4, respectively.



Fig. 7a shows HER3 expression (in the top blot), *Fig. 7b* shows HER4 expression (in the top blot) and *Fig. 7c* shows HER2 expression (in the top blot). The bottom blots are the actin loading control. The resulting blots were not clear enough for an appropriate interpretation of the levels of their respective receptors are. Since the blots probed with actin show that there are proteins in the samples, the underlying issue could be related to antibody optimisation, as all the preliminary work done with PY20 antibody also required optimising. Since the immunoblot images in *Fig. 7a* shows non-specific binding, the blocking step should be longer for these particular antibodies. Also, in order to optimise this experiment, more attempts at running the protocol are needed.

2.5.4 Analysis of changes in expression of EGFR family members shown from human proteome profiler immunoblot

Fig. 8 below shows the results of treating EGFR with the three types of venom used in this investigation. The effect of the three types of venom: *A gen., H swa* and *N naja* on EGFR has been analysed using the results from the human proteome profiler experiment, the data organised in Excel and the intensity of the relevant pair of dots plotted in graph form. The signals (y axis) measured for the three venoms are in the range of 7000000-9000000 (in pixels), with the positive control showing an intensity reading of over 9000000. This is potentially the result of minor inhibition of phosphorylation levels. Arguably, it is not known yet which domain of the receptor does the venom target, either extracellular or intracellular. Should the venoms target the intracellular domain, the venom incubation step should be longer or shorter, depending on the effect and the size of the peptides in each individual venom sample.



Fig. 8 Venom effects on phosphorylation levels of the Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor

2.5.5 Venom Fractionation of A gen.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 + -	8 9 10 11 12 13 14 + -	15 16 17 18 19 + -

Fig. 9 Venom Fractions Western blots

A gen. venom was fractionated. The resulting fractions, 19 in total, were analysed via SDS-PAGE and western blot methods. The blots have been organised starting with PY20 antibody treated blots first (top images), followed by β actin antibody treated blots below each PY20 (bottom images).

Using High Pressure Liquid chromatography (HPLC), A gen. venom was fractionated. This step yielded 19 samples that were incubated with MDA-MB-468 cell lines via the protocol in Methods section. The samples obtained following fractionated venom treatment were analysed via SDS-PAGE and Western Blot methods. The reason for this step was to assess whether there are any peptides in A gen. venom that target specifically the EGF receptor. The use of PY20 antibody informed the level of phosphorylation within each samples and β actin will show whether the results seen on PY20 antibody treated blots was the result of the interaction between venom fraction and receptor or just unequal loading. By comparison with positive control lane, some fractions are exhibiting inhibitory effects on EGF receptor. Figure 9 is structured in two parts, with the PY20 antibody on top and β actin antibody on the bottom. The loading map for each blot is the following: Top blot lanes 1-6 were loaded with fraction 1-6, respectively. The last two lanes have been loaded with positive and negative control, respectively. Middle blot lanes 1-8 have been loaded with venom fractions 7-14, respectively. The last two lanes have been loaded with positive and negative control. Bottom blot, lanes 1-5 have been loaded with venom fractions 15-19 and the last two lanes after the gap are the positive and negative control. However, the positive control samples shows up as
a very intense band in the bottom blot and is not present on the middle blot. This is potentially a transfer issue. The step requires optimisation and therefore multiple runs, which are going to be made difficult by the small amounts yielded after venom extractions. A DS11 spectrophotometer was used to measure the protein concentration in each fraction. 2 μ l of the re-suspension was used with DS11 spectrophotometer to measure the protein concentration. Each sample was measured 5 times and an average was calculated. The protein concentration was relevant to make sure the results obtained from PY20 antibody treated blots were not the influence of unequal protein concentrations in the samples. Given the nature of fractionating protocol, the fractions are freeze-dried. Table 3a (top) and 3b (bottom) *A gen.* venom fractions protein concentrations

Table 3 – Fraction concentrations																			
Fraction	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19
Conc. mg/ml	40.367	185.834	258.981	30.720	3.798	3.540	2.098	13.435	14.535	106.113	5.561	5.991	8.247	6.724	15.578	12.161	11.580	2.396	0.17

2.5.6 Evaluation of optimal time for venom incubation

An assay to determine the optimal time for incubating the cells in venoms was carried out. The results of the experiment were analysed via SDS-PAGE and Western Blotting. The venom used in this step was *A gen*. The time intervals considered for this experiment were 20 min, 40 mins, 1hr, 1hr 20 mins, 1hr 40 mins, 2hrs, 2 hrs 30 mins, 3 hrs, 4 hrs 30 mins, 6 hrs, 24 hrs and 48 hrs. Positive control sample was treated with EGFR but not with venom, and the negative control sample was not treated with either EGFR or venom. Positive and negative control samples were collected at the 48 hr timepoint. PY20 antibody was used to determine the levels of receptor phosphorylation following treatment with *A gen*. venom. Venom dilution used for this experiment was 1 in 100, which was a concentration of 0.3772 mg/ml. The cells were cultured in 12 well plates and allowed to grow until the bottom of each well was completely covered with cells. The media used for this step did not contain any Foetal Calf Serum, as the proteins in FCS can skew the results by masking the proteins in the samples collected. Each well was incubated in 250 μ l of media, no FCS added.

As shown in *Fig. 10*, the lanes on the western blot images were labelled from 1-14. Lanes 8-9 and 15-16 were positive and negative control, respectively. In the same order as represented in *Fig. 1*, the samples represent the following time intervals: 20 minutes-lane 1, 40 minutes-lane 2, 1 hour-lane 3, 1hr 20 mins-lane 4, 1hr 40 mins-lane 5, 2hrs- lane 6, 2 hrs 30 mins-lane 7, 3 hrs-lane 10, 4 hrs 30 mins-lane 11, 6 hrs-lane 12, 24 hrs-lane 13 and 48 hrslane 14, respectively. The sample used as positive control has been treated with EGF but not with venom to assess the normal phosphorylation levels under the condition imposed by the experimental settings. Therefore, positive control lane should have represented the level of EGFR phosphorylation in MDA-MB-468 human cancer cell line. However, both negative and positive samples have been collected after 48 hours and the possible reason the protein levels are too low to be detected via immune-detection is the prolonged exposure to low volume of media and the lack of the proteins and nutrients provided normally by FCS. Another reason for the results observed would be destruction of cells following extended exposure to venom.

To determine the appropriate time incubation interval, more research is required. In *Fig. 10* below, the sample collected after two hours was loaded in the 6th lane. After visually analysing the blots in Fig 10, the 2-hour and 2 hour and 30 mins samples showed a clearer band with very little protein degradation or receptor breakdown. The ghost bands at the top of the blot represent potential non-specific binding of the PY20 antibody. The aim of this experiment was to inform on the best time interval for the breast cancer cells to be treated with the venom to interact with the Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor and display the effect

on the phosphorylation levels at different time points. The decision was made difficult by the lack of bands in positive and negative control lanes, which could be a result of long incubation intervals. The results seen in samples left for 24 hours and 48 hours in lanes 13-14 are consistent with positive control lanes 8 and 15, where actin is present in very small amounts or not present at all. This can be due to either transfer issues or a consequence of the cells being incubated for long intervals, with cells eliminating small molecular weight proteins into the media. However, an avenue worth exploring for any future time dependent experiments is to have positive and negative controls for every time interval analysed.

Fig. 10 Venom Incubation Assay Western Blot treated with PY20 antibody (top) and actin (bottom). Time in minutes unless otherwise stated.



2.6 Discussion

The present study investigated the effects of three different venoms from three different clades: Spider, Scorpion and Snakes on breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-468. After optimisation of the concentrations to be used for the kinome blot the kinome assay was undertaken. All the venoms studied had an inhibitory effect on EGFR phosphorylation as shown by the kinome blot study. Compared to the positive control, which represented the sample treated with EGF but no venom, scorpion venom *H.swa* had the highest overall inhibitory effect. The least inhibitory effect were recorded on the membranes treated with *N.naja* venom. The overall effect of the *H. swa* venom is due to the presence of disulphide and non-disulfide bridged proteins in its composition, which have a wide range of activities such as targeting ion channels, antimicrobial, haemolytic and anticancer effects (Almaaytah

and Albalas, 2014). Looking at the effects of ErBb2, *H. swa* had the most obvious inhibitory effect compared to positive control readings, followed by N. naja venom and A gen with the least inhibitory effects, compared to the scorpion and snake venom. This could be due to the presence of proteolytic linear peptides in spider venoms, which would disrupt the cell membrane completely and interfere with the cell surface proteins such as EGFR (Kuhn-Nentwig et al, 2011). *Naja* species venom has been shown to affect breast cancer cells by the activity of a protein called Cytotoxin (Munawar et al, 2017). ErbB2 has the highest presence in the positive control compared to the other two members of the EGFR family and as such any inhibitory activity of the venoms is of scientific interest. An inhibitor of HER2 in HER2 positive breast cancer could potentially lead to a new breast cancer drug. ErbB 3 is present in very low amounts in positive control and thus seems to be upregulated by all venoms, more so by *H. swa*. ErbB 4 is inhibited by *N. naja* venom and upregulated by *H. swa* venom. A very important factor to consider here is that despite various investigations reporting the interactions between venomous compounds and cancers, there is not a great deal of work done with the MDA-MB-468 breast cancer cell line. Previous investigations focused on MCF-7, A-431 or He-La cell lines mainly.

Fibroblast Growth Factor receptor 3, FGFR3 is present in highest numbers according to the positive control readings. *A. gen* venom had the highest inhibitory effect on this protein out of the three clades. Fibroblast Growth Factor Receptor FGFR and Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Receptor VEGF are involved in neoangiogenesis – the process by which tumours create their own blood vessels (Presta et al, 2005; Turner and Grosse, 2010). Targeting any or both these cell surface proteins means more avenues to explore in anticancer treatments. Snake venoms are rich in disintegrins, a diverse range of proteins which disrupt the activity of integrins which in turn regulate key stages in cancer initiation and progression (Kele, 2015).

Given that Mygalomorphae species' venom is rich in mammalian-specific compounds, this investigation was relevant by revealing the effect Accanthoscurria geniculata venom had on various tyrosine kinase receptors including on the members of the Epidermal Growth Receptor Family, which have been a relevant clinical target since their discovery in 1960 (Lo, 2010). Spider venoms are also known to contain non-peptide compounds such as inorganic salts (Heinen and da Veiga, 2011) and as such more research is needed to identify how these various compounds in either crude venom or venom fractions interact with various biological targets and what is their nature i.e. peptides or non-peptides. Also, the costs associated with designing new drugs can be reduced by looking at naturally occurring molecules (Almeida and Stanckowickz, 2016). According to Almeida and Stanckowickz (2016), there are no patent applications that involve venom from Accanthoscurria genus. However, venom from Accanthoscurria Gomesiana has been used in experimental settings to assess its effects on human cancer cell lines, including human breast cancer cell line SKBR3. Since 1986, 76 patent applications were filled following spider venom research results (Almeida and Stanckowickz, 2016). Accanthoscurria geniculata genome has been recently described to be approx. 6 Gb which in turn can prove helpful in investigating venom evolution and toxin selection (Pineda et al, 2014). Notably, theraphosidae venom investigations have been facilitated by advances in biochemistry tools (Craik et al 2013; Pineda et al, 2014).

Snake venoms are known to be rich in various compounds such as disintegrins, which are believed to disrupt key process in tumors (Kele et al, 2015). Integrins present in tumour cells play a role in proliferation, invasion and survival (Kele et al, 2015). Disintegrins are capable of binding specifically to integrins and thus interfere with vital tumorigenesis

processes (Kele et al, 2015). Thangam et al (2012) describe a disintegrin identified in *Naja Naja* venom with cytotoxic and apoptotic effects on human cancer cell lines in vitro. However, this study used MCF-7, HepG2 and A549 cell lines, which show different EGFR densities compared to cell line MDA-Mb-468. Investigations on snake venom have been facilitated by the amounts venom extractions would yield (King, 2013; Pineda et al, 2014). According to Mirtschin et al (2006), some *Naja* species wet venom ranges between 1.161 and 0.741 grams on average. Tarantula milkings usually results in amounts measuring between 2-10 µl. Thakur et al (2016) studied the effects of ruviprase, a protein identified in *Daboia Russelli* venom on various human cancer cell lines including MCF-7 breast cancer cell line, which showed the apoptosis inducing effects of the protein in a time dependent manner.

The human proteome profiler assay revealed the effects the venoms had on the level of phosphorylation of various receptors. Of particular interest is EGFR. The phosphorylation level graphs in the results section can be used to determine new targets for future breast cancer therapies. For instance, PDGFRβ has been linked to shorter survival rate in breast cancers (Paulsson et al, 2016). PDGFRα has been associated with tumour progression in a study carried out on MCF-7 and HS578T breast cancer cell lines (Carvahlo et al, 2005). In a study carried out on MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-157 triple negative breast cancer cell lines, PDGFRβ was shown to promote angiogenesis (D'Ippolito et al, 2016). Issa et al (2013) carried out an investigation on 4T1 and 67NR breast cancer cell lines to determine the efficacy of combination targeted therapy which revealed targeting both FGF and EGFR can have inhibitory effects on basal-like breast cancers (also known as triple negative breast cancer). Neovascularisation in an important process in tumorigenesis following which new, small tumours can grow, given the access to nutrients and blood supply (Sitohy et al, 2012).

et al, 2012). In a study carried out Bevacizumab in triple negative breast cancer, the scientists reported various adverse events, which led to discontinuation of the clinical trial for most of the patients involved in the study (Cameron et al, 2013). Bevacizumab is a monoclonal antibody that targets the VEGFR (Cameron et al, 2013). Fig 5 shows the levels of PDFR Receptor family. Positive control measurements revealed elevated levels of PDGF R Beta and FR 3. PDGFR Beta is inhibited by the activity of the *N. naja* venom to a higher degree compared to *A. gen* and *H. swa*. However, M CSF R is upregulated by the activity of *H. swa* and *A. gen* venom and inhibited only by the activity of *N. naja* venom.

A. gen venom was fractionated as there is no available data about this procedure done on the venom of this species. The resulting fractions, 19 in total were tested on MDA-MB-468 cell line. Fractions 1-7 had an obvious inhibitory effect when compared to positive control lane. Fractions 8-19 had various effects, with fractions 11, 12 and 18 inhibiting the phosphorylation of EGFR and fraction 15 and 19 upregulating phosphorylation of EGFR. According to Murao et al (2013), in *Acanthoscurria paulensis* venom, the first fractions contain acylpolyamines and other low molecular mass compunds, which may be responsible for the effects of *A. gen* venom fractions, as see in figure 9.

Available data has however several limitations: the human phosphor-array experiment and Western blot of spider venom fractions were carried only once, due to logistics and finance associated restrictions. In ideal conditions, a set of three repeats would have allowed a statistical interpretation. The results do however report findings on previously uninvestigated venoms in different experimental conditions. Given the limitations of both targeted and non-targeted cancer therapies and the variety of venoms in nature, researching, identifying and describing venomous compounds is an effort worthwhile in medicine. At the moment, technical advances and the new focus on naturally occurring peptides are paving

the way for venom peptide based drugs (King, 2013), convergence scientists should take more advantage of.

2.7 References

Adams, M. (2004). Agatoxins: ion channel specific toxins from the American funnel web spider, Agelenopsis aperta. *Toxicon*, 43(5), pp.509-525.

Almeida and Stankiewicz (2016) *Spider Venoms*. Edited by P Gopalakrishnakone, G Corzo, M E de Lima, and E Diego-Garcia. Springer. doi: 10.1007/978-94-007-6389-0_6.

Al-Asmari, A., Riyasdeen, A. and Islam, M. (2017). Scorpion Venom Causes Upregulation of p53 and Downregulation of Bcl-xL and BID Protein Expression by Modulating Signaling Proteins Erk1/2 and STAT3, and DNA Damage in Breast and Colorectal Cancer Cell Lines. *Integrative Cancer Therapies*.

Almaaytah, A. and Albalas, Q. (2014). Scorpion venom peptides with no disulfide bridges: A review. Peptides, 51, pp.35-45.

Ben-Mabrouk, H., Zouari-Kessentini, R., Montassar, F., Koubaa, Z. A.-, Messaadi, E., Guillonneau, X., ElAyeb, M., Srairi-Abid, N., Luis, J., Micheau, O. and Marrakchi, N. (2016) 'CC5 and CC8, two homologous disintegrins from Cerastes cerastes venom, inhibit in vitro and ex vivo angiogenesis', *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 86, pp. 670–680. doi: 10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2016.02.008.

Cameron, D., Brown, J., Dent, R., Jackisch, C., Mackey, J., Pivot, X., Steger, G. G., Suter, T. M., Toi, M., Parmar, M., Laeufl, R., Im, Y.-H., Romieu, G., Harvey, V., Lipatov, O., Pienkowski, T., Cottu, P., Chan, A., Im, S.-A., Hall, P. S., Bubuteishvili-Pacaud, L., Henschel, V., Deurloo, R. J., Pallaud, C. and Bell, R. (2013) 'Articles Adjuvant bevacizumab-containing therapy in triplenegative breast cancer (BEATRICE): primary results of a randomised, phase 3 trial', *Lancet Oncology*. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(13)70335-8.

Carey, L. A., Rugo, H. S., Marcom, P. K., Mayer, E. L., Esteva, F. J., Ma, C. X., Liu, M. C., Storniolo, A. M., Rimawi, M. F., Forero-Torres, A., Wolff, A. C., Hobday, T. J., Ivanova, A., Chiu, W.-K., Ferraro, M., Burrows, E., Bernard, P. S., Hoadley, K. A., Perou, C. M. and Winer, E. P. (2012) 'TBCRC 001: Randomized Phase II Study of Cetuximab in Combination With Carboplatin in Stage IV Triple-Negative Breast Cancer', *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 30(21), pp. 2615–2623. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2010.34.5579.

Carvalho, I., Milanezi, F., Martins, A., Reis, R. M. and Schmitt, F. (2005) 'Overexpression of platelet-derived growth factor receptor alpha in breast cancer is associated with tumour progression.', *Breast Cancer Research*, 7(5), p. R788. doi: 10.1186/bcr1304.

Casewell, N., Wüster, W., Vonk, F., Harrison, R. and Fry, B. (2013). Complex cocktails: the evolutionary novelty of venoms. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 28(4), pp.219-229.

Cos, S., Fernández, R., Güézmes, A. and Sánchez-Barceló, E. J. (1998) 'Influence of Melatonin on Invasive and Metastatic Properties of MCF-7 Human Breast Cancer Cells', *Cancer Research*, 58(19).

Craik, D. J., Fairlie, D. P., Liras, S. and Price, D. (2013) 'The Future of Peptide-based Drugs', *Chemical Biology & Drug Design*. Blackwell Publishing Ltd, 81(1), pp. 136–147. doi: 10.1111/cbdd.12055.

D'Ippolito, E., Plantamura, I., Bongiovanni, L., Casalini, P., Baroni, S., Piovan, C., Orlandi, R., Gualeni, A., Gloghini, A., Rossini, A., Cresta, S., Tessari, A., De Braud, F., Di Leva, G., Tripodo, C. and Iorio, M. (2016). miR-9 and miR-200 Regulate PDGFRβ-Mediated Endothelial Differentiation of Tumor Cells in Triple-Negative Breast Cancer. *Cancer Research*, 76(18), pp.5562-5572.

Donato, N.J. et al., 1996. Regulation of epidermal growth factor receptor activity by crotoxin, a snake venom phospholipase A2 toxin. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 51(11), pp.1535–1543

Das Gupta, T. et al., 2011. Cytotoxic and antioxidant property of a purified fraction (NN-

32) of Indian Naja naja venom on Ehrlich ascites carcinoma in BALB/c mice. *Toxicon : official journal of the International Society on Toxinology*, 57(7-8), pp.1065–72.

Das Gupta, S. et al., 2010. Apoptosis induction in human leukemic cells by a novel protein Bengalin, isolated from Indian black scorpion venom: through mitochondrial pathway and inhibition of heat shock proteins. *Chemico-biological interactions*, 183(2), pp.293–303.

Das Gupta, S. et al., 2013. Bengalin initiates autophagic cell death through ERK–MAPK pathway following suppression of apoptosis in human leukemic U937 cells. *Life Sciences*, 93(7), pp.271–276.

Das Gupta, S. et al., 2007. Indian black scorpion (Heterometrus bengalensis Koch) venom induced antiproliferative and apoptogenic activity against human leukemic cell lines U937 and K562. *Leukemia research*, 31(6), pp.817–25.

D'Suze, G., Rosales, A., Salazar, V. and Sevcik, C. (2010) 'Apoptogenic peptides from Tityus discrepans scorpion venom acting against the SKBR3 breast cancer cell line', *Toxicon*, 56(8), pp. 1497–1505. doi: 10.1016/j.toxicon.2010.09.008.

Escoubas, P., Sollod, B. and King, G. (2006). Venom landscapes: Mining the complexity of spider venoms via a combined cDNA and mass spectrometric approach. *Toxicon*, 47(6), pp.650-663.

Finn, R. (2001) 'Snake venom protein paralyzes cancer cells.', *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*. Oxford University Press, 93(4), pp. 261–2. doi: 10.1093/JNCI/93.4.261.

Fry, B., Roelants, K., Champagne, D., Scheib, H., Tyndall, J., King, G., Nevalainen, T., Norman, J., Lewis, R., Norton, R., Renjifo, C. and de la Vega, R. (2009). The Toxicogenomic Multiverse: Convergent Recruitment of Proteins Into Animal Venoms. *Annual Review of Genomics and Human Genetics*, 10(1), pp.483-511. Garrison, N., Rodriguez, J., Agnarsson, I., Coddington, J., Griswold, C., Hamilton, C., Hedin, M., Kocot, K., Ledford, J. and Bond, J. (2016). Spider phylogenomics: untangling the Spider Tree of Life. *PeerJ*, 4, p.e1719.

Glenn King (2013) 'Venoms to Drugs: Translating Venom Peptides into Therapeutics', Australian Biochemist, 44(3).

Harvey, A. L. (2014) 'Toxins and drug discovery', *Toxicon*, 92, pp. 193–200. doi: 10.1016/j.toxicon.2014.10.020.

Heinen, T. E. and da Veiga, A. B. G. (2011) 'Arthropod venoms and cancer.', *Toxicon :* official journal of the International Society on Toxinology, 57(4), pp. 497–511. doi: 10.1016/j.toxicon.2011.01.002.

Han, R. et al., (2014). Crotoxin induces apoptosis and autophagy in human lung carcinoma cells in vitro via activation of the p38MAPK signaling pathway. *Acta pharmacologica Sinica*, 35(10), pp.1323–32

Holliday, D. L., Speirs, V., Gey, G., Coffman, W., Kubicek, M., Lasfargues, E., Ozzello et al (2011) 'Choosing the right cell line for breast cancer research', *Breast Cancer Research*. BioMed Central, 13(4), p. 215. doi: 10.1186/bcr2889.

Issa, A., Gill, J. W., Heideman, M. R., Sahin, O., Wiemann, S., Dey, et al. (2016) 'miR-9 and miR-200 Regulate PDGFR -Mediated Endothelial Differentiation of Tumor Cells in Triple-Negative Breast Cancer', *Cancer Research*, 76(18), pp. 5562–5572. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-0140.

Jacot, W., Mollevi, C., Fina, F., Lopez-Crapez, E., Martin, P.-M., Colombo, P.-E. et al. (2015) 'High EGFR protein expression and exon 9 PIK3CA mutations are independent prognostic factors in triple negative breast cancers', *BMC Cancer*. BioMed Central, 15(1), p. 986. doi: 10.1186/s12885-015-1977-3.

Kele, J., Macêdo, A., Fox, J. W. and De Souza Castro, M. (2015) 'Disintegrins from Snake Venoms and their Applications in Cancer Research and Therapy'. *Current Protein and Peptide Science*, 16, pp 532-548.

King, G. and Hardy, M. (2013). Spider-Venom Peptides: Structure, Pharmacology, and Potential for Control of Insect Pests. *Annual Review of Entomology*, 58(1), pp.475-496.

Klint, J., Senff, S., Rupasinghe, D., Er, S., Herzig, V., Nicholson, G. and King, G. (2012). Spider-venom peptides that target voltage-gated sodium channels: Pharmacological tools and potential therapeutic leads. *Toxicon*, 60(4), pp.478-491.

Koboldt, D. C., Fulton, R. S., McLellan, M. D., Schmidt, H., Kalicki-Veizer, J., McMichael, et al. (2012) 'Comprehensive molecular portraits of human breast tumours', *Nature*. Nature Research, 490(7418), pp. 61–70. doi: 10.1038/nature11412.

Kumar, S., Sarkar, P. & Jain, R., (2013). Venoms Can Be a Boon for Cancer Patients. Forum on Immunopathological Diseases and Therapeutics, 4(3-4), pp.255–273.

Kuhn-Nentwig, L., Stöcklin, R. and Nentwig, W., (2011). Venom composition and strategies in spiders: is everything possible?. *Advances in insect physiology*, *40*, p.1.

Kuzmenkov, A., Grishin, E. and Vassilevski, A. (2015). Diversity of Potassium Channel Ligands: Focus on Scorpion Toxins. *Biochemistry* (Moscow), 80(13), pp.1764-1799.

Lin, K.-L. et al., (2010). Down-regulation of the JAK2/PI3K-mediated signaling activation is involved in Taiwan cobra cardiotoxin III-induced apoptosis of human breast MDA-MB-231 cancer cells. *Toxicon*, 55(7), pp.1263–73.

Lucena, S.E. et al., (2012). Anti-invasive and anti-adhesive activities of a recombinant disintegrin, r-viridistatin 2, derived from the Prairie rattlesnake (Crotalus viridis viridis). *Toxicon : official journal of the International Society on Toxinology*, 60(1), pp.31–9.

Lo, H.-W. (2010) 'Nuclear mode of the EGFR signaling network: biology, prognostic value, and therapeutic implications.', *Discovery medicine*. NIH Public Access, 10(50), pp. 44–51

Masuda, H., Zhang, D., Bartholomeusz, C., Doihara, H., Hortobagyi, G. N. and Ueno, N. T. (2012) 'Role of epidermal growth factor receptor in breast cancer.', *Breast cancer research and treatment*. NIH Public Access, 136(2), pp. 331–45. doi: 10.1007/s10549-012-2289-9.

Mirtschin, P., Dunstan, N., Hough, B., Hamilton, E., Klein, S., Lucas, J., Millar, D., Madaras, F. and Nias, T. (2006). Venom yields from Australian and some other species of snakes. Ecotoxicology, 15(6), pp.531-538.

Modjtahedi, H., Styles, J. M. and Dean, C. J. (1993) 'The human EGF receptor as a target for cancer therapy: six new rat mAbs against the receptor on the breast carcinoma MDA-MB 468', *Br. J. Cancer*, 67. doi: 10.1096/fj.03-0093life.

Mourão, C. B. F., Oliveira, F. N., e Carvalho, A. C., Arenas, C. J., Duque, H. M., Gonçalves, J. C., Macêdo, J. K. A., Galante, P., Schwartz, C. A., Mortari, M. R., Almeida Santos, M. de F. M. and Schwartz, E. F. (2013) 'Venomic and pharmacological activity of Acanthoscurria paulensis (Theraphosidae) spider venom.', *Toxicon*, 61, pp. 129–38. doi: 10.1016/j.toxicon.2012.11.008.

Munawar, A., Trusch, M., Georgieva, D., Hildebrand, D., Kwiatkowski, M., Behnken, H., Harder, S., Arni, R., Spencer, P., Schlüter, H. and Betzel, C. (2017). Elapid Snake Venom Analyses Show the Specificity of the Peptide Composition at the Level of Genera Naja and Notechis.

O'Brien, N. A., McDonald, K., Tong, L., von Euw, E., Kalous, O., Conklin, D., Hurvitz, S. A., di Tomaso, E., Schnell, C., Linnartz, R., Finn, R. S., Hirawat, S. and Slamon, D. J. (2014) 'Targeting PI3K/mTOR Overcomes Resistance to HER2-Targeted Therapy Independent of Feedback Activation of AKT', *Clinical Cancer Research*, 20(13).

Oakman, C., Viale, G. and Leo, A. Di (2010) 'Management of triple negative breast cancer'. *The Breast* doi: 10.1016/j.breast.2010.03.026.

Osipov, A., Terpinskaya, T., Kryukova, E., Ulaschik, V., Paulovets, L., Petrova, E., Blagun, E., Starkov, V. and Utkin, Y. (2014) 'Nerve Growth Factor from Cobra Venom Inhibits the Growth of Ehrlich Tumor in Mice', *Toxins*. Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute, 6(3), pp. 784–795. doi: 10.3390/toxins6030784.

Paulsson, J., Rydén, L., Strell, C., Frings, O., Tobin, N. P., Fornander, T., Bergh, J., Landberg, G., Stål, O. and Östman, A. (2016) 'High expression of stromal PDGFRβ is associated with reduced benefit of tamoxifen in breast cancer', *The Journal of Pathology: Clinical Research*. doi: 10.1002/cjp2.56.

Pineda, S., Undheim, E., Rupasinghe, D., Ikonomopoulou, M. and King, G. (2014). Spider venomics: implications for drug discovery. *Future Medicinal Chemistry*, 6(15), pp.1699-1714.

Presta, M., Dell'Era, P., Mitola, S., Moroni, E., Ronca, R. and Rusnati, M. (2005). Fibroblast growth factor/fibroblast growth factor receptor system in angiogenesis. Cytokine & Growth Factor Reviews, 16(2), pp.159-178.

Rana, P. and Sridhar, S. S. (2012) 'Efficacy and tolerability of lapatinib in the management of breast cancer.', *Breast cancer : basic and clinical research*. Libertas Academica, 6, pp. 67–77. doi: 10.4137/BCBCR.S6374.

Rusnak, D., Gilmer, T. M., Rusnak, D. W., Lackey, K., Affleck, K., Wood, E. R., Alligood, K. J., Rhodes, N., Keith, B. R., Murray, D. M., Knight, W. B. and Mullin, R. J. (2011) 'The Best of MCT–10 Years The Discovery of Lapatinib (GW572016)'. *Molecular cancer Therapeutics*. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-11-0697.

Saez, N., Senff, S., Jensen, J., Er, S., Herzig, V., Rash, L. and King, G. (2010). Spider-Venom Peptides as Therapeutics. *Toxins*, 2(12), pp.2851-2871.

Sikkema, A. H., Diks, S. H., den Dunnen, W. F. A., ter Elst, A., Scherpen, F. J. G., Hoving, E. W., Ruijtenbeek, R., Boender, P. J., de Wijn, R., Kamps, W. A., Peppelenbosch, M. P. and de Bont, E. S. J. M. (2009) 'Kinome Profiling in Pediatric Brain Tumors as a New Approach for Target Discovery', *Cancer Research*, 69(14).

Sitohy, B., Nagy, J. A. and Dvorak, H. F. (2012) 'Anti-VEGF/VEGFR Therapy for Cancer: Reassessing the Target', *Cancer Research*, 72(8).

Smith, C. G. and Vane, J. R. (2003) 'The discovery of captopril.', *FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*. Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology, 17(8), pp. 788–9. doi: 10.1096/fj.03-0093life.

Soletti, R.C. et al., 2010. Peptide gomesin triggers cell death through L-type channelcalcium influx, MAPK/ERK, PKC and PI3K signaling and generation of reactive oxygen species. *Chemico-biological interactions*, 186(2), pp.135–43.

Sarfo-Poku, C., Eshun, O. and Lee, K. (2016). Medical application of scorpion venom to breast cancer: A mini-review. Toxicon, 122, pp.109-112.

Straehle, C., Spagnolo, O., Van Der Veeken, V., André, F., Baselga, J., Leo, A. Di, Gelmon, K., Gnant, M., Goldhirsch, A., Loibl, S. and Piccart, M. (2016) 'Pharmacoeconomics: Can we afford new drugs for breast cancer? *BIG Research In focus*

Sunagar, K., Moran, Y., Vidal, N., Rage, J., Couloux, A., Hedges, S. et al. (2015) 'The Rise and Fall of an Evolutionary Innovation: Contrasting Strategies of Venom Evolution in Ancient and Young Animals', *PLOS Genetics*. Edited by H. E. Hoekstra. Public Library of Science, 11(10), p. e1005596. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1005596.

Suto, K., Yamazaki, Y., Morita, T. and Mizuno, H. (2005) 'Crystal structures of novel vascular endothelial growth factors (VEGF) from snake venoms: insight into selective VEGF binding to kinase insert domain-containing receptor but not to fms-like tyrosine kinase-1.',

The Journal of biological chemistry. American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, 280(3), pp. 2126–31. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M411395200.

Swenson, S., Costa, F., Minea, R., Sherwin, R. P., Ernst, W., Fujii, G., Yang, D. and Markland, F. S. (2004) 'Intravenous liposomal delivery of the snake venom disintegrin contortrostatin limits breast cancer progression', *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 3(4).

Thakur, R., Kumar, A., Bose, B., Panda, D., Saikia, D., Chattopadhyay, P. and Mukherjee, A. (2014). A new peptide (Ruviprase) purified from the venom of Daboia russelii russelii shows potent anticoagulant activity via non-enzymatic inhibition of thrombin and factor Xa. *Biochimie*, 105, pp.149-158.

Thangam, R., Gunasekaran, P., Kaveri, K., Sridevi, G., Sundarraj, S., Paulpandi, M. and Kannan, S. (2012) 'A novel disintegrin protein from Naja naja venom induces cytotoxicity and apoptosis in human cancer cell lines in vitro', *Process Biochemistry*, 47(8), pp. 1243–1249. doi: 10.1016/j.procbio.2012.04.020.

Turner, N. and Grose, R. (2010). Fibroblast growth factor signalling: from development to cancer. Nature Reviews Cancer, 10(2), pp.116-129.

Zambelli, V. O., Pasqualoto, K. F. M., Picolo, G., Chudzinski-Tavassi, A. M. and Cury, Y. (2016) 'Harnessing the knowledge of animal toxins to generate drugs', *Pharmacological Research*, 112, pp. 30–36. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2016.01.009.

Zhang, H., Berezov, A., Wang, Q., Zhang, G., Drebin, J., Murali, R. and Greene, M. I. (2007) 'ErbB receptors: from oncogenes to targeted cancer therapies.', *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 117(8), pp. 2051–8. doi: 10.1172/JCI32278.

Zhang, R. D., Fidler, I. J. and Price, J. E. (1991) 'Relative malignant potential of human breast carcinoma cell lines established from pleural effusions and a brain metastasis.', *Invasion & metastasis*, 11(4), pp. 204–15.

Zhang, R. D., Fidler, I. J. and Price, J. E. (1991) 'Relative malignant potential of human breast carcinoma cell lines established from pleural effusions and a brain metastasis.', *Invasion & metastasis*, 11(4), pp. 204–15.

2.8 Appendix

Graphs representing the phosphorylation levels in the remaining receptor tyrosine kinases (Results Section 1- Evaluation of optimal venom dose to use in Human Phospho-array



experiment using Western blotting)

Appendix 1 above shows the effects of the three venoms on Insulin Receptor Family. According to the individual receptor levels in positive control, E13ALK receptor is present in highest amounts in cell line MDA-MB-468. A gen had the highest inhibitory activity on E13 ALK receptor, compared to the snake and scorpion venoms.



Receptor Family. According to the positive control sample, MSP R is present in highest amounts in cell line MDA-MB-468. N naja venom had the highest inhibitory effect on MSP R, with a signal of 60000 pixel density.



Appendix 3 shows the effects of the three venoms on neutrophin receptors. Present in highest amounts in cell line MDA-MB-468is TrkA receptor, according to the levels measured in positive control sample. Both A gen and N naja had equally high inhibitory effects compared to H swa venom.



Appendix 4 shows the effects of the three venoms on AXL, which is a cell surface protein. According the readings in positive control sample, Mer Receptor in present in highest amounts in cell line MDA-MB-468. H swa venom had the highest inhibitory activity on the receptor out of the three venoms.



Appendix 5 and Appendix 7 show the effect on Ephrin receptors. According to positive controls samples in the two graphs, E21 EphA10 and D17 EphA1 are present in highest amounts in cell line MDA-MB-468. H swa had the highest inhibitory effect on E21 Epha10. D17 EphA1 were inhibited equally by H swa and A gen. but N naia had the highest



Appendix 6 shows the effects of the three venoms on three receptor families. D1 Tie-2 angiopoietin receptor is present in highest amounts in cell line MDA-MB-468. A gen and H swa had equally inhibitory effects on D1 Tie-2 receptor, with N naja venom showing the most inhibitory activity.

